

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Strategies for Improving Internal Control in Small and Medium Enterprises in Nigeria

Olufemi Adepoju Aladejebi *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Entrepreneurial and Small Business Operations Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Olufemi Aladejebi

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Gregory Uche, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Frederick Nwosu, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Robert Hockin, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Strategies for Improving Internal Control in Small and Medium Enterprises in Nigeria

By

Olufemi Aladejebi

MSc, Finance, University of Lagos, 2011

MBA, University of Ado-Ekiti, 2004

BSc, Accounting, Obafemi Awolowo University Ile-Ife, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2017

Abstract

Researchers and practitioners have recognized the need for business leaders to establish effective internal control frameworks. Some small and medium enterprises (SME) leaders lack strategies for improving internal control systems. The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore the strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. Building on the internal control theory and transactional leadership theory, semistructured face-to-face and phone interviews were conducted with 8 purposively-selected leaders of SMEs in Nigeria who successfully implemented internal control practices. The 5 themes that emerged from the thematic analysis of the interview data were: segregation of duty; adherence to processes, policies, and procedures; staffing, training, and experience; information technology; and staff empowerment and management commitment. The findings from this study indicate that leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use similar strategies to improve internal control practices. All participants used segregation of duty and adherence to processes, policies, and procedures as strategies for improving internal control practices. SME leaders should possess adequate leadership skills for improving internal control systems in their business. The result of this study may contribute to positive social change by providing SME leaders with knowledge on strategies for improving internal control practices which will minimize loss of assets and boost profitability and business sustainability. With increase in business profitability, leaders of SMEs will increase the firms' corporate social responsibility through payment of more taxes, and provision of employment opportunities and social amenities to the local community.

Strategies for Improving Internal Control in Small and Medium Enterprises in Nigeria

By

Olufemi Aladejebi

MSc, Finance, University of Lagos, 2011 MBA, University of Ado-Ekiti, 2004 BSc, Accounting, Obafemi Awolowo University Ile-Ife, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2017

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral dissertation to my wife, Mrs. Abiola Aladejebi and my children Ayooluwa and Iyinoluwa Aladejebi for their encouragement and sacrifice during this doctoral program. I also want to dedicate this doctoral study to my parents Prince Adewale Aladejebi of blessed memory and Madam Janet Aladejebi, both of whom financed and encouraged me from primary to tertiary education.

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my chair and mentor, Dr. Greg Uche, for his untiring efforts and support towards the successful completion of this dissertation. Also, I thank my second committee member, Dr. Fred Nwosu, and my URR, Dr. Robert Hockin, for their support and encouragement. I would also like to thank all my classmates and instructors in the various courses for their efforts in helping me to achieve my goal of obtaining a doctoral degree in business administration. I am also grateful to my church pastor, Rev. (Dr.) Julius Omomola, for his encouragement and prayers during this doctoral program. Lastly, I would like to thank Ayobami Lawal, my able personal assistant for his advice and support.

| Table of Contents | |
|-------------------|--|
|-------------------|--|

| Section 1: Foundation of the Study1 |
|--|
| Background of the Problem1 |
| Problem Statement |
| Purpose Statement |
| Nature of the Study |
| Research Question |
| Interview Questions |
| Conceptual Framework5 |
| Operational Definition |
| Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations |
| Assumptions |
| Limitations |
| Delimitations |
| Significance of the Study9 |
| Contribution to Business Practice |
| Implications for Social Change9 |
| Review of Professional and Academic Literature10 |
| Internal Control |
| Benefits of Internal Control |
| Internal Control Theory15 |
| Control Environment17 |
| Risk Assessment |

| Control Activities | 19 |
|--|----|
| Information and Communication | 20 |
| Monitoring Activities | 20 |
| Transactional Leadership Theory | 21 |
| Leadership Competences Among Small Business Leaders | 23 |
| Leadership Theories and Styles | 25 |
| The Evolution of SMEs in Nigeria | 28 |
| SMEs in Global Context | 30 |
| Characteristics of SMEs in Nigeria | 33 |
| Problems of Internal Control among SMEs | 38 |
| Strategies for Setting up and Improving Internal Control Among SMEs in | |
| Nigeria | 39 |
| Transition and Summary | 47 |
| Section 2: The Project | 48 |
| Purpose Statement | 48 |
| Role of the Researcher | 48 |
| Participants | 50 |
| Research Method and Design | 51 |
| Research Method | 51 |
| Research Design | 53 |
| Population and Sampling | 55 |
| Ethical Research | 57 |
| Data Collection Instruments | 59 |

| | Data Collection Technique | 60 |
|----|---|------|
| | Data Organization Techniques | 63 |
| | Data Analysis Technique | 63 |
| | Reliability and Validity | 66 |
| | Reliability | . 66 |
| | Validity | . 67 |
| | Transition and Summary | 69 |
| Se | ction 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change | 70 |
| | Introduction | 70 |
| | Presentation of the Findings | 70 |
| | Theme 1: Segregation of Duty | . 71 |
| | Theme 2: Adherence to Processes, Policies, and Procedures | . 73 |
| | Theme 3: Staffing, Training, and Experience | . 76 |
| | Theme 4: Information Technology | . 79 |
| | Theme 5: Staff Empowerment and Management Commitment | . 81 |
| | Findings Related to ICT | 82 |
| | Findings Related to Transactional Leadership Theory | .83 |
| | Applications to Professional Practice | 84 |
| | Implications for Social Change | 85 |
| | Recommendations for Action | 86 |
| | Recommendations for Further Research | 87 |
| | Reflections | 88 |
| | Conclusion | 89 |

| References | 91 |
|-----------------------------------|-----|
| Appendix A: Interview Protocol | 126 |
| Appendix C: Letter of Cooperation | 127 |

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) constitute more than 90% of businesses in Nigeria (Shonubi & Taiwo, 2013) and account for more than 90% of total enterprise in Africa, the Caribbean, and Pacific countries (Bowale & Ilesanmi, 2014). The survival of SMEs is important because they account for a significant part of African economies (Ogundele, Akingbade, Saka, Elegunde, & Aliu, 2013). SME leaders are responsible for tackling corporate fraud and business failure by adopting strategies that improve the control of the internal activities of their businesses. Because internal control is critical to the viability of businesses, SME leaders should strengthen the internal control of their firms (Kumar & Singh, 2013; Siwangaza, Smit, Bruwer, & Ukpere, 2014). Researchers have studied strategies corporate leaders use to improve internal controls of their companies.

Managers introduce controls to protect assets and ensure the proper preparation of enterprises' financial records. Corporate fraud and business failures lead to greater demand for better internal controls among companies (Fourie & Ackermann, 2013). The global financial crisis of 2007 and 2008 are indicators of the need to improve internal control for businesses (Kumar & Singh, 2013). Leaders of SMEs can avoid the high risk of fraud and business failure by developing strategies that improve internal control.

Background of the Problem

SMEs are the engine of economic growth and equitable development in developing economies (Agwu, 2014). In Nigeria, SMEs are the backbone of the economy and a key source of economic and dynamic growth and flexibility (Eniola & Entebang, 2015). More than 90% of all businesses in Nigeria employ fewer than 100 employees, which indicates that the majority of businesses in Nigeria qualify as small businesses (Agwu, 2014).

Some SMEs failed during the financial crisis of 2007 to 2008 because of a lack of effective internal control systems (Soininen, Puumalainen, Sjögrén, & Syrjä, 2012). The failure of SMEs was related to some managers' beliefs that establishing internal control systems will increase costs without tangible results (Soininen et al., 2012). A significant number of SME leaders are unwilling to establish internal control systems because of shortage of human and financial resources (Luyolo, Yolande, Juan-Pierré, & Wilfred, 2014).

Internal control is one of the functions of management. Internal control involves monitoring and verification of the functioning of an organization (Mukhina, 2015). SMEs are sources of job opportunities for Nigerians (Eniola & Entebang, 2015). Providing new knowledge and skills may have a positive effect on SME leaders on how to solve internal control problems. However, SME leaders are facing challenges on how to improve internal financial control for business sustainability. By finding solutions to problems regarding internal financial control, researchers may help SME leaders to understand the strategies for improving internal financial practices and sustain their businesses.

Problem Statement

Globally, internal control failure among small businesses often leads to loss of assets, fraud, waste, mismanagement, inefficiency, loss of client assurance, and failure to achieve business goals (Stone, 2016). Lack of internal control has a negative effect on the profits and continuity of business (Othman & Ali, 2014). Thirty-eight percent of small businesses have internal control departments while 88.3% of large companies have these

departments (ACFE, 2016; Stone, 2016). The general business problem was that leaders of SMEs face internal control challenges. The specific business problem was that some leaders of SMEs in Nigeria lack strategies for improving internal control practices.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. The participants for this study consisted of business leaders from four small and medium businesses in the commercial city of Lagos, Nigeria, who have implemented strategies to improve internal control practices. Findings from this study may help small business owners to strengthen their weak internal controls, align business objectives, encourage good management, and ensure proper financial reporting. The improved internal control practices may lead to an increase in profit. The study's implications for positive social change may include the potential for providing business leaders with strategies to improve internal control practices that could catapult business profit, increase employment opportunities for local community, and additional resources to provide social amenities for local residents.

Nature of the Study

Qualitative researchers can access the thoughts and feelings of research participants, which can enable development of an understanding of the meaning that people ascribe to their experiences (Austin & Sutton, 2015). In contrast, quantitative research involves the use of the statistical method or other means of quantification to arrive at the study findings (Basri, 2014). In quantitative studies, researchers have fixed options of responses (Guta, 2013). The mixed methods approach involves the usage of both quantitative and qualitative research methods in conducting research. Mixed methods is time-consuming and involves many resources (Dang, 2015). Quantitative and mixed methods methodologies were not appropriate for this study because the goal of the study was to explore experiences of participants.

I used a multiple case study as the design for this study. According to Yin (2014), the two types of case study designs are single case study and multiple case study. Specific phenomenon and research questions determine the choice of the case study design for a research. The multiple case study was appropriate for this study because it affords a researcher an opportunity for in-depth view of a study. Tsang (2014) posited that researchers use findings from multiple case study.

Other qualitative designs include ethnography and phenomenology (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Researchers use the ethnographic design to carry out on-site research for a long period of time (Jamshed, 2014). Ethnographic design was not suitable for this study because I do not intend to conduct an on-site research. Researchers use the phenomenological design to conduct research when results extracted from individuals involve a *lived experience*, and the need for multiple sources of data is not prominent (Yin, 2014). The phenomenological design was not suitable for this study because my intent was not to explore lived experiences of participant's but to understand the strategies business leaders use to improve internal control practices. According to Uluyol and Akci (2014), a multiple case study approach is appropriate for a study when the intent is to answer *what, why,* and *how* questions. A multiple case study design was appropriate for this research study because I intended to

explore the *what* and *how* questions to understand the strategies business leaders use to improve internal control practices.

Research Question

The overarching research question for this study was: What strategies do leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use to improve internal control practices?

Interview Questions

The following were the research questions that I used to answer the overarching research question:

- 1. What strategies do you use to improve internal control in your enterprise?
- 2. How effective are the strategies?
- 3. What are the benefits of effective internal control systems to your SME?
- 4. How can inefficient internal control practices be detrimental to your business?
- 5. What are the main components of your internal control strategy?
- 6. What are the key success factors in the internal control setup in your enterprise?
- 7. What are you doing as an enterprise leader to improve the level of implementation of internal control measures?
- 8. How do you assess improvement in internal control practices in your enterprise?
- 9. What have you learned about improvement in internal control practices?
- 10. What other information can you provide on effective strategies for improving internal control?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual frameworks for the qualitative multiple case study were the internal control theory (ICT) and transactional leadership theory. The American Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) first used the concept of internal control in 1949 (Shanszadeh & Zolfaghari, 2015). Committee of Sponsoring Organization (COSO) of the Treadway Commission developed ICT in 1985 (Whitehouse, 2013). According to Whitehouse, the components of ICT include (a) control of the environment, (b) risk assessment, (c) control activities, (d) information and communication, and (e) monitoring. The ICT is a useful tool that practitioners use for addressing strategies to set up effective, reliable, and efficient internal control. Frazer (2011) stated that corporate leaders apply internal control to different sizes of business with varying needs of the internal control mechanism. Using the ICT, leaders of SMEs can understand strategies for improving internal control practices.

Burns proposed the transactional leadership theory, which involves leaders and followers, in 1978 (McCleskey, 2014). The components of the transactional leadership theory include a focus on the role of exchange between leaders and subordinates, supervision, group performance, and organization. The transactional leadership theory emphasizes rewards and punishments (Amanchukwu, Stanley, & Ololube, 2015). Reward and punishment are common to both internal control and transactional leadership. Clear and concise structure, reward, and punishment are vital to the successful implementation of strategies leaders that SMEs can use to improve internal control practices (COSO, 2013; Amanchukwu et al., 2015). Using the transactional leadership theory, leaders of SMEs can develop leadership skills for improving internal control practices.

Operational Definition

Operational definitions of some terms used in this study are as follows:

Internal control: Internal control is a process affected by the actions of the board of directors and other organizational structure levels in the firm, which is designed to provide reasonable assurance toward achieving the firm's objectives, plans, and strategies for the related laws, rules, policies, and regulations (Puttikunsakon & Ussahawanitchakit, 2015).

Internal control effectiveness (ICE): ICE is the extent to which the organizational system promotes the achievement of corporate goals and objectives. ICE has a positive relationship with market value (Mafiana, 2013).

Leadership competencies: Leadership competencies are a set of behavioral patterns that can contribute to effective performance in an organization (Hassanzadeh, Silong, Asmuni, & Wahat, 2015).

Small and medium enterprise (SME): SMEs are firms with a total capital employed not less than 1.5m Naira and not exceeding 200m Naira (\$4,800 – \$640,000), including working capital, but excluding the cost of land and/or with a staff strength of not fewer than 10 and not more than 300 (Odunayo, 2015).

Small and Medium Enterprises Development Agency of Nigeria (SMEDAN) Act: The establishment of SMEDAN in 2003 was to promote the development of the micro, small, and medium enterprises (MSMEs) sector of the Nigerian economy. Managers of the agency facilitate access to MSMEs/investors, and to all resources that are necessary for their development (Oyeniyi, 2013).

Transactional leadership: Transactional leadership is a style of leadership in which the leader promotes compliance of followers through both rewards and punishments (Fasola, Adeyemi, & Olowe, 2013).

Transformational leader: A transformational leader is a leader who raises the followers' level of consciousness about the importance and value of desired outcomes and the methods of reaching those outcomes (Burns, 1978).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

An assumption is something that a researcher presumes correct even without evidence (Collins, Onwuegbuzie, Johnson, & Frels, 2013). One of my assumptions was that participants had adequate knowledge and insight on internal control practices. Another assumption was that participants would answer the interview questions truthfully. My final assumption was that participants would be willing and available for interview.

Limitations

Limitations are issues over which the researcher does not have control (Berbary, 2014). A limitation of this study was that participants' answers depended on their ability to remember events as they happened. The second limitation was that accuracy of the data depended on the truthfulness and openness of participants. Only participants who volunteered participated in this study. Finally, the study was limited to my accurate interpretation of participants' responses.

Delimitations

Delimitations are conditions researchers place on a study because of specific choices (Oppong, 2013). The delimitations of this study included the geographic location of the study, which excludes SME leaders who are not located in Lagos, Nigeria. Another delimitation was the sample size of eight business leaders in providing insight into the

study on strategies to improve internal control practices in SMEs in Nigeria. The research group consisted of SMEs who have been in small business for longer than 5 years.

Significance of the Study

Value to Business

Owners of small businesses with weak internal control may use the findings of this study to increase their profitability, thus attracting investors. With increased profitability, small businesses may expand and compete with larger firms.

Contribution to Business Practice

The findings of the study may be of use to leaders of existing SMEs in setting up and strengthening their internal control systems. The results of the study may also provide useful information to business groups as well as governmental and nongovernmental agencies on how to improve internal control practices. An understanding of the role of internal control system among SMEs could lead to a successful development of a framework for internal control. An excellent internal control system will help small business leaders sustain their businesses and prevent loss of income. A sound internal control system could contribute to protecting the investments of the shareholders and prevent loss of assets of the company.

Implications for Social Change

The implications of this study for positive social change include business leaders utilizing the findings to maximize positive social change by minimizing loss of assets which may lead to an increase in profitability. The increase in profitability may also lead to increased corporate social responsibility in communities. Some other advantages of reduction in loss of assets include a decrease in loss of revenue and reduction in the closure of business. Furthermore, business managers may apply the suggestions of this study to reduce unemployment in communities because many SMEs may remain in business due to reduction in loss of assets.

Review of Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. SMEs play a vital role in Nigeria's economy by contributing to economic growth. Small firms are agents of economic expansion and enlargement. Small enterprises constitute more than 70% of the Nigerian businesses, but most of the small enterprises are disorganized (Shonubi & Taiwo, 2013). Internal control serves as a tool to check business failure and to enhance business profitability. SMEs support an economy by providing employment and boosting the national income and tax revenue (Mafiana, 2013). Leaders of SMEs need to identify and replicate best internal control practices to ensure the viability of their businesses.

I reviewed the literature regarding SMEs, internal control, ICT, and types, characteristics, and organizational structure of SMEs in Nigeria. I explored the problems of internal control and strategies for setting up and improving internal control among Nigerian SMEs. Resources for the literature review included the Walden University online library, Internet searches, and public library resources such as books, journals, and electronic articles. Other resources included Walden University Dissertations, Databases ProQuest, Business Source Complete, ABI/INFORM Complete, Science Direct, Sage, and Emerald. I used Ulrich's Periodicals Directory website, Walden's Electronic Library, Google Scholar, and databases such as EBSCOhost, and Business Premier for verification of peer-reviewed journals. The key phrases and words used for literature search included: *internal controls, internal audit, SMEs and robust internal control, internal control among SMEs, internal control statistics, characteristics of SMEs in Nigeria, COSO, internal control deficiency, internal control effectiveness, historical development of internal control, internal control improvement among SMEs, leadership, leadership theories, leadership styles,* and *leadership competencies.* The search yielded 389 articles. The content of the literature review consists of 115 journals, three books, and three dissertations. Of the 243 resources used for this study, 213 (88%) were published between 2013 and 2017 and 229 were peer-reviewed (94%).

Internal Control

Internal control is the combination of many standards, and the theories related to internal control promote the best of business practice in an organization (Frazer, 2012). Business practitioners use the terms internal control and internal audit interchangeably (Kinney, Martin, & Shepardson, 2013). Internal control has various definitions (Kinney et al., 2013). In 2009, COSO explained that internal control is a procedure that leaders of business, management, and other staff plan to offer a rational guarantee about the attainment of goals in efficient and effective ways of doing business, credible financial reporting, and fulfillment of relevant laws and regulations. Internal audit represents a set of policies, measures, and procedures which responsible entity design and implement at all levels to provide reasonable assurance to achieve its objectives in an economic, effective, and efficient way (Muceku, 2014). There is a difference between internal control and internal audit, though sometimes people in business use the two interchangeably.

The year 1985 marked the establishment of the COSO of the Treadway Commission. The sponsoring firms included the American Accounting Association and AICPA. COSO makes regulations in the execution of internal control systems in big and small organizations. COSO stated that internal control applies to three areas of a business: efficiency and effectiveness of operations, reliable financial reporting, and conformity with relevant laws and guidelines (Ayam, 2015). COSO principles are applicable to both small and big firms.

Benefits of Internal Control

According to Campbell and Hartcher (2010), control within organizations assists in supporting the goals of the enterprise, protecting assets, and identifying and stopping fraud and error. Control leads to the promotion of excellent administration, giving room for the punishment of poor performance, approving of transactions, helping in authenticating transactions, and minimizing exposure to unexpected events (Campbell & Hartcher, 2010). Control guarantees proper financial statements, recording of all transactions, and maintenance of correct amounts with proper classification. Other benefits of internal control include helping business leaders to ascertain the existence of assets and liabilities; error identification and handling; separates functions; and ensuring timely preparation, presentation, and proper disclosure of financial statements (Campbell & Hartcher, 2010).

Effective internal audit functioning is essential to the success of a firm (Adedokun, Asaolu, & Monday, 2016). Efficient internal controls are useful to a company because they support consistent financial statements and give a reasonable guarantee for the records on which managers rely to make vital decisions concerning

their businesses (Tong, Wang, & Xu, 2014). Internal audit adds to the attainment of business objectives and is more beneficial to business performance (Badara & Saidin, 2013). Control in an organization is an elemental provision for well-organized and effectual attainment of the general and specific goals of any company (Muceku, 2014). SMEs need viable internal audit system to contribute to the achievement of set business objectives.

With effective internal control compliance, enterprises will garner limitless gains that stream from well-organized procedures, which will add value to the company's capacity (Nor Azimah, 2013). Good internal control leads to efficient management, harmonization, and promotes a company's ability to generate value and maximization of companies' capital. Internal audit activities are useful in achieving enterprise missions, organization cost-effectiveness, and successful operations (Muceku, 2014). Internal control may result in the creation of quality products and services similar to the organization's mission to preserve resources against loss due to misuse, negligence, errors, and frauds. A well-built control system is an effective protection against business failures and a vital driver of business achievement (Nor Azimah, 2013). The implementation of good internal control system may help SMEs to achieve successful operations.

Internal control is a vital part of corporate governance (Gyebi & Quain, 2013). Management may use ICT to harmonize best business practices in a firm (Frazer, 2011). Control within enterprises is vital in resolving difficult economic climate because businesses have the need to reduce waste and improve efficiency (Bhatti, Iftikhar, Qureshi, Shams, & Zaman, 2013). SMEs should establish or raise the standard of preventive and detective internal controls to enhance chances of accessing funds (Luyolo et al., 2014).

The four types of internal control are: (a) preventive, (b) detective, (c) corrective, and (d) compensating (Johnston & Spencer, 2011). Correct applications of preventive controls could prevent fraud. Preventive controls are useful in avoiding non-valid transactions and stopping assets from misuse. Preventive controls require a considerable amount of physical effort and involvement to succeed and are the costliest type of control to apply. Examples of preventive controls include two-fold signatures on the financial instrument to prevent unapproved transactions and user identities and passwords over computers to avert illegitimate access to applications (Johnston & Spencer, 2011). Data control procedures involving endorsement, agreement, confirmation, protection, and separation of functions are protective control activities (Johnston & Spencer, 2011). The right application of preventive controls may aid the avoidance of fraud.

The right application of detective controls helps to uncover errors and fraud. Application of detective control can help in spotting situations where detrimental events occurred. Application of detective controls can show that a violation has happened but cannot prevent the unwanted action from occurring. Examples include a reconciliation of bank statements and variance analysis of actual budget. Detective control measures are moderately inexpensive to apply (Johnston & Spencer, 2011). The failure of company leaders to institute detective control may result in expensive fraud incidents.

Management may put corrective controls in place after an error or fraud occurs (Johnston & Spencer 2011). Proper use of corrective controls may help in mitigating damage once a risk crystallizes. Corrective controls are internal controls business leaders

14

develop to remedy errors and systematically correct faults. Restoration of the computer back up after an earthquake disaster is an example of corrective control (Johnston & Spencer 2011). The right application of corrective controls to mitigate fraud incidents is important to SMEs.

A compensating control is necessary to neutralize an identified internal control weakness. The owner-manager often uses compensating control (Johnston & Spencer 2011). Examples of compensating controls include exception reports showing expenses at higher than normal levels, clients' over-approved limits, and customers' past due accounts.

Internal Control Theory

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) first used the term internal control in 1949 (Frazer, 2011). Historically, the term is an accounting phrase.

The five components of the internal control framework are (a) control environments, (b) risk assessment, (c) control activities, (d) information and communication, and (e) monitoring (Pang & Li, 2013; Whitehouse, 2013). The first four components relate to the design and generation of the system of internal control while the fifth component ensures that internal control operates without hinderance (Missioura, 2014). In 1985, the COSO of the Treadway Commission introduced internal control on the presentation of financial reports, which assisted in improving internal control efficiency in smaller companies. The committee report is one of the points of reference for internal control. According to COSO, business leaders institute internal control processes to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives, including effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Many countries, including Nigeria, have adopted the committee report for internal control. The COSO report is the most authoritative study on internal control (Leng & Zhao, 2013). Many professionals and practitioners use internal control and internal audit interchangeably but there exists a difference between the two terms. Leng and Zhao (2013) posited that internal control officers are responsible for achieving business' specific goals regarding efficiency and reliability of financial reports and compliance with government regulations while internal audit officers ascertain the effectiveness of internal control.

Internal control practitioners use the internal audit to assess the processes and procedures of the internal control within a certain period. After the global financial crisis of 2007 and 2008, irrespective of company size, business leaders have adopted internal control as a best practice for controlling organizations, financial reporting, and antifraud programs (Leng & Zhao, 2013; Soininen et al., 2012).

The most effective activity an organization can embark upon to minimize fraud is to improve its internal control practices (Leng & Zhao, 2013). The greatest problem with internal control activities is the unavailability of controls (Egbunike, 2014). When separation of functions is lacking, COSO directs attention to the use of management examination and reconciliation to boost controls (Whitehouse, 2013). Johnston and Spencer (2011) identified the following concepts of internal control:

• Internal control is a means of achieving organizational goals.

- Policy manuals may help, but how business organizations perform their functions is much more important.
- Internal control does not guarantee absolute assurance but only a reasonable assurance to the company's board and management.
- Internal control works towards the attainment of goals.

Internal control officers use the five components of COSO's internal control framework to detect, prevent, or correct errors or misstatements in the financial operations of the business (Frazer, 2012). In 2013, as part of the update to the document amended in 2004, COSO listed 17 principles under the five components (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). Business leaders should examine the 17 principles that sustain each of the five parts and decide how well to link them to the five components (Whitehouse, 2013). By studying the COSO principles, organizational leaders could improve their understanding of effective internal control practices.

Control Environment

The independence between board members and a management team is important for business sustainability. The board members are responsible for maintaining oversight of development and performance of internal control while the management team establishes structures, functions, and procedures for providing reports to relevant authorities (Whitehouse, 2013). Business managers need to show the determination to recruit, train, and retain capable staff in conformity with business objectives. Organizational leaders should make employees accountable for their internal control activities (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). Whitehouse advised business leaders to drive internal control policies in their organizations. The control environment is the most important component of COSO's internal control framework. An environment of complacency can lead to fraud (Kachelmeier, Majors, & Williamson, 2014). The control environment brings together the other four categories, which is vital to a firm's way and standards of organizing internal control (Noland & Metrejean, 2013). To ensure an effective internal control system, business leaders, board members, and employees should create a good control environment. A poor control environment will lead to errors and irregularities (Noland & Metrejean, 2013).

A business environment is not static but dynamic and neither is a control environment. SME leaders need to update the internal control system to adapt to the changing external business environment (Kachelmeier et al., 2014). Every organization needs to consider the external business environment as it affects its business operations.

Risk Assessment

Identification of risks in business settings is critical to achieving organizational goals. A company's leadership identifies and considers changes that can affect their internal control system (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). In 2004, COSO released enterprise risk management framework to assist business operators to improve risk management practices and enhance internal control process. Risk identification, risk assessment, and risk response are important components of the internal control framework. Risk assessment entails a proactive and interactive process for recognizing and evaluating risks to actualize a firm's goals and is the basis for determining risk management initiatives (D'Aquila & Houmes, 2014). Establishing an enterprise risk management practice is an effective way of observing the vital areas of a firm's

operations (D'Aquila & Houmes, 2014). Businesses should assess operational risks to determine which areas need more monitoring and proactive activities (D'Aquila & Houmes, 2014). Risk identification, risk assessment, and risk response are vital components of an internal control framework.

Control Activities

Managers of companies choose and develop control processes that add to the mitigation of risk and improvement of the standard. Managers of firms choose and develop general control activities above technology to assist in the attainment of business goals (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). The leader of a company deploys control activities through policies that establish expectation and procedures that put policies into action (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). Leaders of companies are responsible for the establishment of internal control policies.

Internal control activities cover policies, procedures, mechanisms, devices and instruments that fit each enterprise, activity, or operation, expanded, and implemented for the effective management of the identified risk performance (Muceku, 2014). The right application of principles of internal control may help an enterprise to either mitigate the risk identified or reduce the effect of the risk on the entity (Muceku, 2014). Control activities are both automated and manual. Control activities established by leaders should be effective and efficient. Business leaders should consider cost when designing internal control activities. Lowest cost is important and not exceeds control activity if an adverse event occurs. Corporate leaders should consider control activities in the design of processes and systems. Resource allocation takes priority in the possible occurrence of risk (Gyebi & Quain, 2013). Business leaders are responsible for the allocation of resources in any organization.

Information and Communication

Managers of companies require information to guide their strategies on internal control. The managers pass information within, including goals and functions for internal control, necessary to assist the working of internal control (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). The managers pass information to external parties concerning matters affecting the workings of other parts of internal control (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). Information is vital for leaders of SMEs to make decisions.

SME leaders need the report of internal control activities (Frazer, 2012). Information identification, capturing, and reporting achieved in such a way staff can perform their duties without distraction. Information about external activities that affect the business is vital to SME leaders. According to COSO (1992), information passes to the board, top down, bottom up, and across levels of the organization. There is a need for leaders and managers to pass the information that control activities. External parties such as suppliers, regulators, and customers should have means of effective communication with firms (Frazer, 2012). Leaders and supervisors should ensure information flow within an organization.

Monitoring Activities

An important business practice is to monitor internal control activities to protect internal processes (Zecheru, 2014). Monitoring entails the assessment of the performance of the internal control system over a period (COSO, 1992). Monitoring takes place in the course of operations and involves frequent checking and managing of activities and other actions that employees do when carrying out their functions. The scope and regularity of separate assessment depend principally on an assessment of risks and the usefulness of the ongoing examination process (COSO, 1992). Leaders of businesses should have a report of internal control deficiencies.

Organizational leaders should engage stakeholders before implementing the COSO framework in a company. The 2013 version of COSO contained an application to compliance and operations apart from financial reporting (Whitehouse, 2013). COSO considers internal control as a mechanism for putting together a company's strategy, synchronizing it in the enterprise, and boosting communication by removing silos of risks (Zecheru, 2014). Business leaders should explain to every staff the essence of internal control before its implementation.

Transactional Leadership Theory

Burns proposed transformational leadership theory in 1978 as a paradigm for understanding and characterizing the dealings between organizational leaders and employees. Burns (1978) classified leadership styles in an organization as either transactional or transformational. Transactional leaders use conventional reward and punishment to gain compliance from their followers (Burns, 1978). Transactional leadership is managerial control that focus on the role of supervision, organization, and performance (McCleskey, 2014). The leader ensures that subordinates comply through both rewards and punishments. Transactional leaders pay attention to subordinates' shortcomings and deviations (Burns, 1978). Transactional leadership is responsive, works within the organizational culture, and motivates followers by appealing to their selfinterest (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). The transactional leadership approach uses a onesize-fits-all universal approach to leadership theory construction that puts aside situational and contextual factors related to organization challenges (El-Zayaty, 2016; McCleskey, 2014). Transactional leadership behavior is in contrast with transformational behavior. While transactional behavior centers on cooperation through the exchange of rewards, transformational style of leadership focuses on method, by which a leader can inspire and apply that ability of motivation thinking (Mahdinezhad, Suandi, Silong, & Omar, 2013). Business leaders could exhibit either transformational or transactional leadership styles.

Transactional leadership practices lead followers to the short-term relationship of exchange with the leaders. Those relationships often create hatred among the participants. Some scholars criticize the transactional leadership theory because of its one-size-fits-all universal approach by neglecting situational and contextual factors regarding enterprise challenges (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Transformational leadership has a positive influence on subordinates and organizational performance (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Both transactional and transformational leadership have their merits and demerits.

Transactional leaders focus on processes rather than forward thinking ideas as in transformational leadership (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Transactional leadership is good in a crisis and emergency situations (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Transformational leaders pay attention to creating a positive change of the followers. Transformational leaders are mindful of interests of everybody in the group (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Transformational leadership increases the motivation, performance, and morale of subordinates through various means (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). The foundation for transformational leadership is the application to higher-level needs of employees (Odumeru & Ogbonna. 2013). Business leaders could use either transactional or transformational leadership style to introduce or strengthen the firms' internal control systems.

Scholars have distinguished between transactional and transformational leadership styles. First, transactional leadership is responsive while transformational leadership is proactive. Second, transactional leadership works within the organization while transformational leadership works to change the organizational culture by implementing new ideas. In transactional leadership, the leader set a policy of rewards and punishments through which the employers achieve business set objectives and employees achieve personal objectives through higher ideals and moral values (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Finally, transactional leaders motivate followers by appealing to their self-interest while transformational leaders motivate followers by encouraging them to put group interests first (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). A leader's leadership style is critical to the successful implementation and maintenance of internal control practices.

Studies in leadership have gained considerable prominence in scholarly literature over the past few decades (Latham, 2014). Traditional leadership theories emphasize the concept of rewards and punishment (Martin, Liao, & Campbell, 2013). Contemporary leadership theories emphasize power sharing between leaders and subordinates, teamwork, and human relations (Ravazadeh & Ravazadeh, 2013). Business leaders should use appropriate leadership style to establish and sustain internal control systems.

Leadership Competences Among Small Business Leaders

Leadership competencies are important factors for leaders of SMEs to be successful and boost the economic development of a nation (Quan, 2015). Business 23

leaders need entrepreneurial skills and competencies to survive current and future challenges (Eravia, Julina, & Handoyani, 2015). Competencies refer to somebody's knowledge in the area of rights, responsibilities, and skills (Eravia et al., 2015). SME leaders should have adequate leadership competency to implement efficient internal control system.

Leadership is important to the success of SMEs. Matzler, Schwarz, Deutinger, and Harms (2012) demonstrated the importance and positive effect of leadership on the growth, profitability, and innovation of SMEs in Austria. In contrast, Beaver (2003) relied on observation and empirical research to ascribe the failure of SMEs to poor leadership and a lack of management abilities. Leadership behavior of leaders of SMEs is one of the important factors that influence SME performance (Arham, 2014). Leadership is important to the realization of a firm's objectives.

Researchers have noted the importance of leaders having adequate personal and functional competent to perform the leadership roles (Pihie, Asimiran, & Bagheri, 2014). An organizational leader should be proactive, innovative, and a risk-taker. Being proactive means predicting and taking actions before a situation occurs. Innovativeness relates to the ability and tendency of a leader to think imaginatively and develop practical ideas concerning opportunity recognition, resource utilization, and problem-solving (Pihie et al., 2014). The expectation for a leader is to take risks in the face of uncertainties (Pihie et al., 2014). Functional competencies are the capabilities of organizational leaders to act differently from other types of leaders (Pihie et al., 2014). Leadership competencies can help managers exceed expectations in their managerial role and contribute to the achievement of organizational goals (Quan, 2015). Competition in modern business is very keen. Both small and large businesses experience competition. SMEs are the most dynamic and vulnerable businesses (Eravia et al., 2015). SME leaders should possess the leadership competencies to ensure efficient establishment and monitoring of internal control systems.

Leadership Theories and Styles

There are many leadership theories and styles. Certain characteristics differentiate leaders from non-leaders. According to Amanchukwu et al. (2015), there are nine major leadership theories. The leadership theories are (a) great man, (b) trait, (c) contingency, (d) situational, (e) behavioral, (f) participative, (g) transactional/management, (h) transformational/ relationship, and (i) skills. Also, there are four major leadership styles: (a) autocratic, (b) Laissez- Faire, (c) bureaucrat, (d) Charismatic leader.

Leadership is a process whereby individual influences a group of individuals to achieve a common goal (Starr, 2014). There are many definitions of leadership. Rost (1993) identified 221 different definitions of leadership. The definition of leadership depends on the specific aspect of the leadership of interest to an individual or group (McCleskey, 2014). The leadership definition I adopted in this study was by Sethuraman and Suresh (2014) which states that a leader is a person with the responsibility to influence one or more followers and directing them to achieve a set objective.

Contingency theory means two aspects of leadership: task behavior and relationship behavior (Dai & Cai, 2014). Proponents of contingency theory state that in a different setting, different leadership traits have different effects and the basic leadership style of leaders is the key reason that affects success (Dai & Cai, 2014). In contingency theory, no single leadership style fits all situations. Success depends on many factors including situational features, quality of followers, and leadership style (Amanchukwu et al., 2015). Situational leadership postulates that a situation requires natural understanding before one can take an appropriate action (McCleskey, 2014). Different styles of leadership may be more suitable for a different kind of decision-making.

Transactional leadership refers to the relationship of exchange between the leaders and subordinates to respond to their own interests (Bass, 1999). The aim of transactional leadership is to form clear relationship and roles that enable subordinates to achieve the goals of a firm. Transactional leadership thrives on the recognition connected with the results accomplished by subordinates (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Bass (1985) defined transformational leadership as the process whereby leaders employ the collective interest of an organization and its employees to achieve outcomes beyond ordinary performance. The transformational leader tends to convince his followers to transcend their self-interest for the sake of the firm while elevating the followers level of need on Maslow's hierarchy of lower level concerns for safety and security to higher level needs for achievement and self-actualization (Bass, 2008). Transformational leaders are mentors to their followers and inspire the followers to go beyond the call of duty (Giltinane, 2013). Transactional and transformational leaders inspire followers to achieve set organizational goals.

In skills theory, learned knowledge and acquired skills are vital to leadership. Also in skills theory, there is no connection between traits and ability to lead effectively (Ismail, Reza, & Mahdi, 2012). A considerable amount of resources is devoted to training and development (Amanchukwu et al., 2015). Autocratic leadership is also authoritarian leadership style. Autocratic leaders do not delegate responsibilities; rather, they retain responsibilities. Autocratic leaders make little consultation with colleagues and subordinates before making decisions (Mishra, Grunewald, & Kulkani, 2014). There is a high turnover of staff where there is an autocratic leadership style. Autocratic leadership style may be useful in a crisis situation (Iqbal, Anwar, & Haider, 2015). An autocratic leader does not involve any other person in decision-making.

Laissez-faire leaders abdicate responsibilities and avoid making decisions (Wongyanon, Wijaya, Mardiyono, & Soeaidy, 2015). It involves non-interference by the leadership. There is no particular way of attaining company's goals (Elshout, Scherp, & Van der Feltz-Cornelis, 2013). Bureaucratic leaders create rules and rely on policy to meet organizational goals. Bureaucratic leaders oppose change, preferring to stick to existing policies and procedures of an organization and rarely motivate and develop staff (Olander, Hurmelinna-Laukkanen, & Heilmann, 2015). Bureaucratic leaders follow the rules and procedures strictly and ensure that subordinates' follow same (Amanchukwu et al., 2015). Charismatic leaders are visionary and motivate staff to carry out the company's vision (Olander et al., 2015). Charismatic leaders promote creativity and innovation (Olander et al., 2015). Once a charismatic leader leaves an organization, it may be difficult to find a replacement because leaders rarely groom successors within the organization (Olander et al. 2015). Charismatic leaders involve others in decision-making (Olander et al., 2015). SME leaders should use appropriate leadership style to establish and sustain the internal control practices.

Leadership styles affect the leadership strategies business leaders use to improve internal control among SMEs. Leaders with transactional leadership skills are likely to reward compliance with internal control policies and sanction erring staff for noncompliance (Wongyanon et al., 2015). A leader with laissez-faire leadership skills may not bother to reward or sanction staff on firm's policies (Mishra et al., 2014). Leadership styles generally influence the effectiveness of internal control in an organization. Key integrated part of the internal control system is the control environment, the role of which is to create an atmosphere for the effective interaction of the elements of internal control system (Mukhina, 2015). The effective interaction depends directly on the policy of the higher management of the company (Mukhina, 2015). The internal control system cannot be successful in a company without the support of the management of the company (Mukhina, 2015). Corporate leaders' management style is critical in ensuring effective internal control system in the organization.

The Evolution of SMEs in Nigeria

The first law concerning SMEs in Nigeria dates back to 1946 when the essential Paper No. 24 of 1945 on a 10-year development plan and welfare of Nigeria commenced (Nwankwo, Ewuim, & Asoya, 2012). Small businesses play a major role in areas that can aid the growth of the Nigerian economy (Efiong, Usang, Inyang, & Effiong, 2013). Governments at different levels have identified small firms as a tool to reduce poverty, stimulate employment, garner local resources, and reduce rural-urban migration (Efiong et al., 2013). Small firms contribute to the development of economies all over the world.

Globally, governments are concentrating on the growth of SMEs (Bowale & Ilesanmi, 2014). Categories of small businesses include: (a) formal, (b) informal, (c) rural, (d) urban, (e) local, (f) national, (g) regional, and (h) international markets (Bowale & Ilesanmi, 2014). In Nigeria, small firms are engaged in various forms of business. These businesses include the production of agricultural implements, internet cafés, coffee shops, and software vending (Eniola & Entebang, 2015). Small firms contribute immensely to Nigeria's economy.

The government of Nigeria recognized the importance of small firms in the economy and set up various agencies to boost their development in the country. The agencies include the National Directorate of Employment (NDE), set up in November 1986 (Eniola & Entebang, 2015). The purpose of establishing NDE was to improve graduate employment in small-scale industries, introduce various agricultural programs, youth employment, and vocational skills (Eniola & Entebang, 2015). National Poverty Eradication Program (NAPEP) started in the year 2000. The focus of NAPEP was to provide financial assistance to small businesses and micro-organizations. The Nigerian government introduced Small and Medium Enterprises Development Agency of Nigeria (SMEDAN). The program started in 2004. SMEDAN officials are supposed to support viable SMEs regarding funding, capacity building, and establish at least ten viable businesses in each local government of the country. Successive Nigerian governments with various laudable programs concerning SMEs failed in execution, monitoring, and transparency (Ogundele et al., 2013). Corruption and bureaucracy affect some of the government programs (Ogundele et al., 2013). Government agencies are supporting small businesses in Nigeria.

Nigeria is a country that is full of good farmlands, multiple minerals, and a good array of human resources, therefore, making the atmosphere conducive for small firms to thrive (Ogundele et al., 2013). The research carried out by the federal office of statistics showed that SMEs controls over 90% of Nigeria's economy (Ogundele et al., 2013). Small firms in Nigeria offer job opportunities, especially since they are labor intensive.

By providing employment opportunities, SMEs in Nigeria help in alleviating poverty. SMEs have improved the standard of living of people in the rural areas though the mortality rate is high, as 80% of SMEs fold up before the end of the fifth year (Ogundele et al., 2013). Small businesses contribute to the Nigerian economy.

Small firms serve as a medium of distribution between the large companies and consumers. SMEs reduce rural-urban migration, thereby reducing overpopulation in cities. SMEs raise the level of rural development and contribute to improved standard of living, especially in the rural areas (Olowe, Moradeyo, & Babalola, 2013). Furthermore, SMEs mobilize savings and contribute to the improvement of the local capital formation (Olowe et al., 2013). SMEs also serve as the foundation for technological growth and development of big companies (Olowe et al., 2013). SMEs contribute to increasing per capita income and food security for developing countries including Nigeria (Etuk, Etuk, & Baghebo, 2014). Leaders of SMEs make raw materials available to the industrial sector and provide training opportunities for local entrepreneurs. SMEs can easily adapt to new changes within a short time compared to big companies (Ogundele et al., 2013). Small businesses play a vital role in the success of every economy.

SMEs in Global Context

SMEs form more than 90% of the world's business firms (Inyang, 2013). The SME workforce ranges from one to between 100 and 250 employees (Inyang, 2013). Small-scale businesses hire between five and 100 employees. Medium-sized businesses employ between 100 and 250 (Inyang, 2013). The European definition of SMEs is any business with fewer than 250 employees, sales of up to 50 million Euros, and a balance sheet size of about 43 million Euros (Inyang, 2013). SMEs serve to offer more

employment to a large percentage of the population in a given country than large firms (Oba & Onuoha, 2013). SMEs are catalyst for growth in modern economies.

In Ghana, small businesses play a vital role in creating jobs, especially for women (Michael, 2015). SMEs are also vital to increase in tax, generation of import and export revenues, contribution to the distribution of goods and services, development of human resources, and are a source of innovations and entrepreneurship (Michael, 2015). Major areas of participation of SMEs include fishing, farming, mining, restaurants, and services (Michael, 2015). SMEs are vital to the growth of the Ghanaian economy.

In Albania, SMEs create employment opportunities. The leaders of SMEs use local inputs, mobilize small savings all over the country, and develop entrepreneurship. SMEs contribute about 64% of the gross domestic product (Kazimoto, 2014). However, number of SMEs are declining slowly. The main impediments to the growth of SMEs in Albania include infrastructure, taxes, regulations, and finance (Kazimoto, 2014). The government is introducing some policies to improve the performance of SMEs (Kazimoto, 2014). SMEs contribute immensely to the growth of the Albanian economy.

Romanian SMEs give priority to innovation. The collaboration among SMEs involve sharing of infrastructure, technology, supply, distribution, channels, competitiveness, productivity, and ultimately, profitability (Gözde, Bengtson, & Hadjikhani, 2015). SMEs collaborate with large companies, especially regarding sales that enhance funding (Gözde et al., 2015). On the contrary, Romanian SMEs are not too proactive in creating competitive advantage (Gözde et al., 2015). The level of innovation among SMEs in Romania is high.

In Pakistan, the definition of SMEs are enterprises that have between one and 250 employees. SMEs have a significant influence on the revenue from the tax, employment, family income stability, income distribution, and efficient use of resources. SMEs are more labor intensive than large companies. The government of Pakistan has been using SMEs for the promotion of economic growth through wealth, job creation, and reduction in poverty (Javed et al., 2011). The State Bank of Pakistan defined an SME as a business with no more than 250 employees and one that fulfills any two of three criteria: (a) a trading/service concern having total assets at cost up to RS 50 million with land and building is not part of small business, (b) a manufacturing unit having total assets at cost up to RS 100 million without land or building, or (c) any concern of service, trading, or manufacturing with net sales less than RS 300 million as per current financial statements (Javed et al., 2011). The government established SME business support fund to finance SMEs (Javed et al., 2011). SMEs are the mainstay of economic growth that produces goods, trade, investment, services, and employment leading to improvement in the quality of life for the people. SMEs are also involved in the exportation of goods (Sirivanh & Chaikeaw, 2013). SMEs are instrumental in the development of new products and services.

The Federation of Zimbabwe Industries defined a small business as an enterprise with an employment size of one to 20 hired staff and an annual turnover below US 4 million dollars while a medium-sized enterprise is a company with an employment size of 21 to 35 staff with an annual turnover of US 4 million to 4.5 million dollars (Chipangura & Kaseka, 2012). SMEs constitute 40% of retail and commerce, 19% of service, 19% of manufacturing sector, 7% of agriculture, 5% of construction, 5% of mining, and 5% of other sectors (Chipangura & Kaseka, 2012). The introduction of the economic structural adjustment program has led to the growth of SMEs (Chipangura & Kaseka, 2012). Zimbabwe government introduced policies to boost the performance of small businesses.

SMEs are the bedrock of the Jordanian economy (Al-Hyari, 2013). SMEs account for about 98% of all industrial companies and 80% of Jordanian employment (Al-Hyari, 2013). A common saying in Jordan suggests that if the economy is going to improve, there is going to be a great reliance on small businesses (Al-Hyari, 2013). However, the global economic crisis has adversely affected the growth of small businesses in Jordan (Al-Hyari, 2013). Some barriers militating against the growth of SMEs in Jordan include failure to implement electronic learning, low exposure to information technology, poor personnel training, and high finance cost (Al-Hyari, 2013). Other factors preventing SME growth are stiff competition, low opportunity to credit facilities, barriers to up-to-date technology, poor infrastructure, rigid business regulations, issues on quality of products, corruption, poor management skills, and low government support (Al-Hyari, 2013). SMEs are important to the Jordanian economy.

Characteristics of SMEs in Nigeria

SMEs are the main contributors to industrialization in Nigeria and many developing and developed economies (Etuk et al., 2014; Odunayo, 2015). SMEs account for 99.9% of the United Kingdom's economy (Blackburn, Hart, & Wainwright, 2013). Small firms are critical to Nigerian economy as their activities lead to an increase in per capita income, gross domestic product, and food security (Etuk et al., 2014). SMEs effect Nigeria's economy. Small businesses create employment, wealth, and use of local materials with simple technology. SMEs also promote technology, innovation, reduction of poverty, and income distribution and redistribution (Ademola, Olaleye, Ajayi, & Edun, 2013). Government introduces policies such as fiscal, monetary, and export policies, but SME sector performance has not been encouraging (Alarape, 2013). Because of the federal government of Nigeria's recognition of the fact that SMEs contribute to the economic development of the country, the government planned and started policies to promote SME development (Alarape, 2013).

Small businesses are indispensable in all countries. Small firms are the motivating force of business, development, innovation, competitiveness, and employers of labor. SMEs exist in the form of sole proprietorship, partnership, or limited liability companies. All types of SMEs in Nigeria register with the Corporate Affairs Commission (Agwu, 2014). Some SMEs fail to register their businesses with the Corporate Affairs Commission.

There are six major sources of finance accessible to small companies in Nigeria: (a) personal, (b) family and friends, (c) partnerships or business associates, (d) informal financial markets, (e) banks, and (f) specialized funding facilities (Agwu, 2014). Small and Medium Industries Entity Investment Scheme (SMIEIS) defined SMEs as enterprises with a total capital of not less than 1.5 million Naira, but not exceeding 200 million Naira (\$4,800- \$640,000), including working capital but excluding the cost of land. The staff strength of SMEs is not less than 10 and not more than 300 employees (Sokoto &Abdulahi, 2013). Finance is key to the success of any business.

According to Onugu (2005), most of the small enterprises in Nigeria are single proprietorships and in some cases, are not registered with the nation's Corporate Affairs Commission. The production process is labor intensive because the cost of labor is cheap and technology is backward (Onugu, 2005). Most small firms have one-man management who make the vital decisions. A manager may not even be at the shop or office on a daily basis. Small businesses have difficulty in accessing long-term funds because of lack of collateral and inadequate financial records (Onugu, 2005). There are little or no research and development. Some business leaders have little or no managerial skills but have onthe-job experience (Onugu, 2005). SMEs in Nigeria have many problems.

Workers of small businesses receive meager salaries. The employees are at the mercy of their leaders who can hire and fire at will. Most workers of small businesses are ill-equipped to handle their functions (Onugu, 2005). Small businesses in Nigeria borrow funds at exorbitant bank interest rates and other spurious bank charges. The mortality rate of small business in Nigeria is high because most SMEs do not survive beyond two years. Small firms in Nigeria lack economy of scale (Onugu, 2005). Employees of SMEs in Nigeria are poorly paid.

Some small firms produce low quality products. Most small business leaders fail to separate their personal funds from their business funds (Onugu, 2005). Lack of separation of personal and official funds hampers SME owners' accessibility to funds from banks and investors (Onugu, 2005). Because of non-separation of personal and official funds, analysts found it difficult to measure the performance of such small businesses. Poor infrastructure characterizes SMEs in Nigeria. The government has failed to provide basic amenities like water, electricity, and roads (Onugu, 2005). Most small businesses that are involved in agriculture lack appropriate storage facilities. The waste of farm produce adversely affect the income that accrue to farmers (Onugu, 2005). Lack of proper documentation and records is another characteristic of small businesses in Nigeria. Small business leaders fail to keep basic records concerning their firms. Some small firms use obsolete equipment (Onugu, 2005). Most SME owners in Nigeria do not follow the modern trends that can contribute to planning. Business leaders think they are keeping trade secrets. Failure to follow the modern trends is one of the reasons for high mortality of businesses in Nigeria (Onugu, 2005). SMEs face enormous challenges in Nigeria.

Some characteristics of SMEs in Nigeria include corruption, lack of training and experience, insufficient profits, and low demand for products and services (Agwu, 2014). Many SMEs do not have approved training and development programs (Alarape, 2013). Weak internal controls and overbearing influence of leaders, especially in familycontrolled businesses, are part of the characteristics of businesses in Nigeria (Alarape, 2013). Other characteristics are non-adherence to established internal controls and operational procedures, abuse of firm's source of funds regarding overdrawn accounts, technical incompetence, poor leadership and weak administrative ability, and an inability to plan and respond to changing business circumstances (Oba & Onuoha, 2013). Some leaders of SMEs in Nigeria do not have adequate skills to sustain their business performance.

Nigerian business leaders face many challenges, including lack of credit facilities, corruption, inconsistent government policies, multiple taxations, the poor state of infrastructure, and inability to adapt to the challenges of the business environment (Ihugba, Odii, & Njoku, 2013). Other challenges in the Nigerian business sector include the poor standard of education, insecurity, inability to get the support of venture capital, lack of effective patent laws, political upheavals, discrimination against women entrepreneurs, lack of planning, and a penchant for foreign goods (Ihugba et al., 2013). SMEs owners in Nigeria should develop strategies to minimize challenges.

According to Odunayo (2015), characteristics of Nigerian SMEs include reliance on small business leaders to raise funds from own savings or loans from friends or relations. In most SMEs, the same person is responsible for handling production, marketing, personnel, and finance functions (Shonubi & Taiwo, 2013). Furthermore, business leaders face challenges of low education of proprietors, poor record keeping, low patronage of banks, tax evasion, and limited vision to a locality (Shonubi & Taiwo, 2013). According to Shonubi and Taiwo, the major characteristics of SMEs in Nigeria are poor knowledge of the economy and non-availability of the entrepreneurship training (capacity building). Other characteristics of SMEs in Nigeria is a lack of feasibility report before the commencement of business, poor marketing skills, lack of trusted staffs, inability to grasp new opportunities, inadequate planning, and lack of structure. Ademola et al. (2013) opined that SMEs contend with the issue of corruption and embezzlement, fraud, drug trafficking, money laundering, and poor information about the business environment.

A majority of SMEs are not making use of information technology (Ademola et al., 2013). Limited innovation exists in the area of product, process, organization, and marketing (Zuñiga-Collazos & Castillo-Palacio, 2016). Poor support from government and poor attitude of entrepreneurs are part of characteristics of small enterprises in Nigeria (Ogundele et al., 2013). Some features of SMEs in Nigeria include lack of succession plans, lack of experience, and sporadic power supply. Ademola et al. noted

that inadequate water, road and electricity infrastructures, poor business strategy, and difficulty in identifying revenue and profit hamper sustainability of SMEs in Nigeria.

Problems of Internal Control among SMEs

Many companies have suffered great losses and collapsed in recent years because of failure to implement internal control systems (Hsiung & Wang, 2014). The internal control system is an important process that business leaders use to enhance their organizations' attainment of operational goals, improve operational effectiveness, strengthen corporate existence, and gain competitiveness. The size and age of a firm are two important determinants of the weaknesses in internal controls (Hsiung & Wang, 2014). Small organizations tend to have internal control weaknesses (Hsiung & Wang, 2014). Inadequate accounting resources could be the major reason for the majority of internal control weaknesses. Other reasons for internal control weaknesses could be attributed to lack of qualified personnel, deficient revenue recognition policies, and improper segregation of duties (Feng, McVay, & Skaife, 2015). The internal control unit is important for SMEs.

One of the most important aspects of a good internal control system is segregation of duties. Most small firms cannot afford to segregate duties because of limited personnel and inhibited resources (Jiahui, 2015). Lack of internal control has an effect on the profits and continuity of business (Othman & Ali, 2014). Because most small business leaders do not have more than five members of staff, they need to pay special attention to their internal control (Moldof, 2014). Segregation of duties is important in internal control.

Most SME leaders do not employ staff that could make segregation of duties possible (Moldof, 2014). Compared to larger businesses, small businesses are likely to

disregard setting up internal controls that could prevent expensive losses. Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE) conducted global survey among businesses in 2014 and demonstrated that small businesses have limited financial and human resources compared to large organizations (Andre, Pennington, & Smith, 2014). Small organizations are more susceptible to expensive losses because of limited financial and human resources. About 38.6% of small businesses have internal audit department compared to 88.3% of large companies (ACFE, 2016; Stone, 2016). The number of SMEs with organized internal control unit is small compared to large organizations (Tysiac, 2012). Small business leaders discover the insecurity of their assets mainly in businesses in which one employee is in charge of finances (Tysiac, 2012). Staffing is an issue that affects effective implementation of internal control policies among SMEs.

Many small businesses set up internal controls to prevent theft and fraud. Apart from asset protection, there are other reasons for setting up internal control. Johnston and Spencer (2011) opined that smaller organizations are more prone to resource constrain in setting up internal control. According to Jiahui (2015), the pressures to reduce expenses and protect profits are causing companies not to invest in internal control.

Strategies for Setting up and Improving Internal Control Among SMEs in Nigeria

In the last two decades, the issue of fraud has compelled business leaders to pay extra attention to internal control activities (Egbunike, 2014). The management of organization are responsible for instituting appropriate accounting systems with relevant internal controls (Egbunike, 2014). All SME leaders should have a plan in place to identify and improve weak points in internal control (Gupta, Guha, & Krishnaswami, 2013). Small business owners should plan and establish some basic internal controls and procedures to boost the survival of their businesses (Gupta et al., 2013). SME leaders need to institute internal control policies.

Every staff in an organization has a task in the internal control framework; this should be part of each person's job function (O. Atu, Adeghe, & Atu, 2014). Staff involvement is important in the design and implementation of internal control. Staff must have the necessary buy-in to the internal control system. Training of staff before and after implementation is vital for internal control (Atu et al., 2014). Firms can improve their internal control system by effective separation of duties (Missioura, 2014). Management should take full responsibility for starting and continuing adequate internal control and for appraising the usefulness of financial reporting controls and processes (Moldof, 2014). Adequate internal control is important to the survival of SMEs.

Business leaders should establish a strong internal control system to minimize the possibility for management abuse and to show good enterprise governance culture (Isaac, 2014). New and existing small business leaders should make out time to consult an experienced internal auditor on the issue of internal control of their businesses. Moldof (2014) posited that corporate leaders who consult internal audit experts could discover that implementing internal control is not expensive and is simple to execute.

Every staff should realize the importance of internal control (Mafiana, 2013). Managers should lead by example (Mafiana, 2013). However, a good internal control system cannot turn a poor manager into a good one (Ayam, 2015). Control is one of the qualities of good management. Planning, execution, and appraisal of control in every firm, irrespective of its size, are important. Personnel resource is vital to an internal control (Suciu & Bârsan, 2013). Therefore, capable internal control rests on the process employed for recruitment, assessment, elevation, and remuneration of the staff.

Internal auditors should be competent and objective and the quality of their work should be according to the standard. If the work of internal auditors is good, then the external auditors and management can rely on their work (Abbass & Aleqab, 2013). Abbass and Aleqab studied the internal auditors characteristics and audit fees in Egyptian firms and identified how internal auditors' competency and objectivity affect external auditors' reliance on the work of the internal auditors. Abbass and Aleqab concluded that the more the competency and objectivity of internal auditors, the more the reliance of the external auditor on the works of the internal auditor. Internal auditors need training, relevant certifications, and professional experience (Abbass & Aleqab, 2013). Managers in charge of internal control in small firms could dictate and overrule existing internal controls. Small firms may not possess the essential resources needed to sustain relevant technical controls. Gopal and Wei (2012) opined that empirical proof on the possible advantages of internal controls for small companies is restricted.

Individuals could learn internal control by narrative arrangement, sequential illustration, and internal control questionnaires (Suciu & Bârsan, 2013). The three methods of understanding internal control are:

- Internal control through the narrative presentation involving a written description of internal control system.
- The internal control questionnaire contains questions about the internal control system applied in each area of an audit

 Sequential illustration (diagram) is a symbolic and schematic representation of firm documents and their chronological sequence in the entity (Suciu & Bârsan, 2013).

The stages to instituting internal controls among SMEs are risk identification, implementation, and periodic evaluation (Jong-Hag, Sunhwa, Chris, & Joonil, 2013). In the risk identification phase, the manager engages a third party who is an expert to evaluate the internal controls of their business to identify possible problems. One activity in the implementation of controls is segregation of duties of staff (Jong-Hag et al., 2013). In the final stage, the internal managers and external consultants conduct periodic evaluation of the internal controls to appraise the effectiveness of the internal controls (Jong-Hag et al., 2013). Internal controls should cover every risk involved in the business. Business leaders should ensure that internal controls are clear, unambiguous, written down, appraised, and sustained (Johnston & Spencer, 2011). Periodic evaluation of internal control is important.

SMEs can improve internal controls by enhancing management. SMEs can enhance the internal environment, improve the internal information system and internal communication, boost the company's oversight functions, and improve on management's control (Missioura, 2014). Small businesses can make internal controls a constant theme and raise risk awareness (Missioura, 2014). Control for smaller companies entail creativity (Othman & Ali, 2014). Small enterprises can provide a code of conduct for its employees as part of internal control measures (Tysiac, 2012). Principles of internal controls include segregation of duties, the definition of responsibilities, limited access to cash or assets, and setting up of a petty cash limit. Physical protection of assets includes a cost/benefits analysis of controls, employee bonding, employee rotation, external audit, and independent check of transactions by a third party (Othman & Ali, 2014). Segregation of duties includes a review of records and documentation and job rotation (Othman & Ali, 2014). Business leaders should ensure adherence to the principles of internal control.

Internal controls are essential to reducing the likelihood of errors and fraud. It is not possible to prevent all fraud, but putting some essential internal controls in place can assist in the prevention of a sizeable percentage of fraud that happens in small businesses. SME leaders can introduce internal control measures such as the owner signing all checks alone, going through bank statements including online access, and keeping the check stock in a locked drawer (Robbins, 2012). SME leaders should approve suppliers' invoices, have an adequate knowledge of the workings of the accounting software, and review the bank reconciliation statement especially the outstanding items every month (Robbins, 2012). SMEs are prone to fraud and errors.

Good governance, risk management, and internal controls are essential to company success and durability (Balkaran, 2013). An audit manual is essential to an internal control function because the handbook contains standards, instructions, and processes for establishing an effective internal control system (Balkaran, 2013). Job rotation and mandatory vacation are necessary for staff before assigning responsibility (Tysiac, 2012). Other helpful factors include having multiple staff take care of related functions, have staff that can cross-check records, correctness in writing checks, payroll payment, and collection and cash treatment (Balkran, 2013).

43

By setting up proper internal control, business leaders could use more proficient and successful approach in conducting their processes. In the case of limited access to accounting software, a robust internal control should ensure the introduction of user identities and passwords to have limited access and passwords changed periodically. The leaders of the business can assign user identities and create access rights. Business leaders should ensure systems backup at both onsite and offsite (Tysiac, 2012). Specific internal control activities for financial operations in SME can cover areas of cash, payroll, inventory, travel, fleet expense, accounts receivable, write-offs, information, and communication (Tysiac, 2012). Proper internal control is essential to the success of SMEs.

Internal control should also cover software. Software controls include successful purchase, execution, and protection of system software, the operating system, database management systems, telecommunication software, safety software, and utilities (Gyebi & Quain, 2013). One of the essential constituents of internal control is the separation of functions among numerous staff (Tysiac, 2012). SMEs record a larger portion of fraud than large businesses because of the absence of internal controls (Abdulsaleh, & Worthington, 2013; Kukreja, 2016). In executing an internal control system, the business owner should exhibit healthy habits, proper education of staff, and improvements in the procedure where necessary (Abdulsaleh & Worthington, 2013; Kukreja, 2016). Suitable internal control measures apply to automated and manual procedures (Johnston & Spencer, 2011). Segregation of duties is an integral part of the internal control process.

Segregation means splitting multiple assignments among many staff members. For small business, segregation involves sharing functions between the staff members

and the owner of the business. One person should not be accountable for all aspects of a transaction from beginning to the end. Putting in place a robust internal control system is crucial to reducing the chance of fraud. Setting up internal control can aid segregation of duties, proper authorization, time sheets, and adequate documentation to support transactions and accounting activity (Laufer, 2011). Some components of robust internal control system include monthly bank reconciliation, cash monitoring, keeping checks under lock and key, limited use of credit cards, and observation of mandatory vacations (Laufer, 2011). In SMEs where it is not easy to segregate functions among three or more staff members, an ideal internal control against payroll anomaly is to use a neutral assessor or accountant from outside the company (Tysiac, 2012). Internal control is not useful when individuals collude to commit fraud. The collusion of staff defeats the institution of segregation of duties. A study carried out by the COSO of the Treadway Commission in 2010 showed that 89% of fraud cases studied had a chief executive and chief financial officer colluding (Meek, 2013). Collusion defeats the essence of internal control.

Business leaders have discerned the importance of internal controls and the vital significance of evaluating the controls from time to time. Efficient internal control systems must be flexible enough to support new developments in business practices in the world economy (Jong-Hag et al., 2013). The vital means of creating a satisfactory control environment to guard an enterprise's reputation and its critical assets are for the top staff to manage the enterprise by example (Gupta et al., 2013). The SME owner can have the following internal controls checklist (Kapp & Heslop, 2011):

- Cash: Approve and sign all checks. Cash and receipts must be banked timely and intact, review of bank reconciliation, examine all electronic payment transactions on bank statements, and keep unused checks under lock and key.
- Payroll: Ascertain the existence of staff, ascertain the reasonability of gross and net pay, scrutinize sick leave and holidays, and scrutinize payroll tax deduction and remittance.
- Inventory: Stock monitoring is important. Ensure usage of approved vendors, ascertain purchase of only stock used for business, ensure stock inventory, and quarterly compare work completed to inventory invoice records.
- Vehicles: Track vehicle mileage, scrutinize expenses, ensure the protection of vehicles, and monitor vehicle use.
- Accounts Receivable: Ensure only endorsed customers have access to credits. Review credit balance from time to time and ensure bills and outstanding balances are sent to clients regularly. Review invoices for omitted invoices, compare manual and system invoice amounts, and ascertain demarcation of canceled invoices. The business owner should approve all write-offs.
- Accounts Payable: Ensure usage of approved suppliers for transactions, ascertain goods are collected before payment, and pay all fees and bills promptly.

- Expenses: Ensure expense is genuine and business related, ascertain reasonability of an expense, and ensure expense amount is rational.
- General: Ensure there are guidelines and practices that state that fraud is not acceptable. Prepare a budget and compare actual revenues and actual expenses to budget. Check report on canceled, adjusted, and journal entries. Check access rights and passwords on the computer.
- Hiring: Carry out background checks on probable staff and scrutinize probable staff references.

Generally, internal control is essential to the realization of SMEs goals and objectives. Every SME leader should implement internal control policies that will safeguard assets of the firm.

Transition and Summary

Section 1 of this study contain the foundation and background of the problem on strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. Other components in section 1 include the problem and purpose statements, nature of the study, research and interview questions, conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, significance of the study, and review of professional and academic literature. In Section 2, I will provide a narrative on the role of researcher, participants, research method and design, data collection and organization techniques, data analysis, reliability and validity. Section 3 will contain presentation of the study findings relating to the conceptual framework, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore leadership strategies that leaders of small businesses use for improving internal control practices. In this section, I will discuss the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, determination of participants of the study, research method and design, population and sampling technique, and ethical research. Section 2 will also include the data collection instrument, data collection and organization techniques, data analysis, and a discussion of the reliability and validity of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. The participants for this study consisted of business leaders from four small and medium businesses in the commercial city of Lagos, Nigeria, who have implemented strategies to improve internal control practices. Findings from this study may help small business owners to strengthen their weak internal controls, align business objectives, encourage good management, and ensure proper financial reporting. The improved internal control practices may lead to an increase in profit. The study's implications for positive social change may include the potential for providing business leaders with strategies to improve internal control practices which could catapult business profit, increase employment opportunities for local community, and additional resources to provide social amenities for local residents.

Role of the Researcher

A qualitative researcher serves as the main instrument for data collection (Collins & Cooper, 2014). As the researcher, my responsibilities included collecting the data,

ensuring the integrity of data, and adhering to the strict guidelines of Walden University for conducting ethical research. To address issues of ethical concern, I took into consideration the *Belmont Protocol Report* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). *The Belmont Report* gives three guiding principles (a) respect, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (Musoba, Jacob, & Robinson, 2014). In addition, I completed the National Institute of Human web-based training course on how to protect human research participants when conducting a research.

I obtained permission from companies to interview prospective participants and conduct interviews. My role included analyzing and interpreting the data collected, as well as ensuring participants' confidentiality. I worked interactively and proactively with the participants in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data. An interview protocol is vital to obtain the best information from the participants of a study. However, a good protocol does not guarantee a successful interview, especially if the researcher does not properly connect with the participants as they share their experiences (Gale, Heath, Cameron, Rashid, & Redwood, 2013). I used an interview protocol (see Appendix B) as a guide during the semistructured meeting to obtain information from participants.

In addition to the interviews with the top SME leaders from four companies in Nigeria, I also used data on internal control systems and processes and historical information on small businesses in Nigeria.

A researcher must engage in a personal reflection to reduce the risk of personal biases (Greenhalgh, Snow, Ryan, Rees, & Salisbury, 2015; Lamb, 2013). Keeping a journal of introspective activities enabled me to remain aware of the potential influence of my inner biases and feelings might have on the study.

Researchers should have adequate knowledge of event under study (Yin, 2014). I acknowledge my interest in internal control practices as an accountant with over 26 years of experience. Also, I consult for small businesses on the topic of internal control. Although I reside and work in Lagos, I did not have a prior relationship with any of the research participants.

Participants

The target participants of the study included executive leadership of SMEs based in the commercial city of Lagos, Nigeria. A sample size of eight top executive leaders from at least four SME companies participated in the study. The criteria for participant selection included: (a) SME leadership experience for at least 5 years, (b) employers of less than 50 full-time workers, (c) residency in Lagos, and (d) use of effective internal control systems. Yin (2014) suggested the use of the purposive sampling technique to identify participants. I used a purposive sampling technique to identify potential participants.

Establishing contact with participants involved selecting the contact information of eight top SME business leaders of four companies from the directory of trade groups like Nigeria Employers Consultative Council, women in business, and alumni of Lagos Business School. I wrote to seek permission and initial approval from companies' representatives before recruiting potential participants. Representatives of participants' employers signed the Letter of Cooperation (see Appendix B) to approve my interviews with participants.

After the approval of Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB), I contacted the participants for interviews. The interview process began with potential

participants receiving an informed consent form. The informed consent form included information on the purpose of the study, inclusion criteria, data collection process, and benefits of the study. All prospective participants who agreed to participate in the study signed the consent forms. I reminded the participants that their participation was voluntary and that they could withdraw at any time during the study by informing me through telephone, email, or in person. I maintained a cordial relationship with the participants by placing telephone calls to them occasionally.

The consent of participants and confidentiality are important in qualitative research. Participants received my assurance of confidentiality. Kirby, Broom, Adams, Sibbritt, and Refshauge (2014) supported maintaining participants' confidentiality. I used codes P1 to P8 to refer to the participants rather than using their names to ensure their confidentiality. Gould and Brown (2013) and Onwuegbuzie and Byers (2014) stated that researchers could conduct face-to-face or telephone interviews. I conducted face-to-face interviews with participants, took notes of my observations, and reviewed company documents.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

I used the qualitative research method for this study because of the exploratory nature of the research question: What strategies do leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use to improve internal control practices? A researcher is free to adopt a research method to achieve the purpose of the study and answer the research questions (Hayes, Bonner, & Douglas, 2013). Moore and Bailey (2013) stated that the qualitative method is appropriate to achieve an in-depth understanding of a phenomenon.

Researchers use either of the three methods to carry out research: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Venkatesh et al., 2013; Parry, Mumford, Bower, & Watts, 2014). Numerical studies are quantitative, non-numerical studies are qualitative, and a mixed method is a combination of qualitative and quantitative approaches (Hesse-Biber, 2016). The three research methods all have their own peculiarities.

Quantitative research is useful for providing answers to questions of *who*, *where*, *how much*, and *how many* (Lunde, Heggen, & Strand, 2013). Researchers use the quantitative method to examine the relationship between variables that focus on providing answers to questions and hypotheses using experiments and surveys (Hoe & Hoare, 2013). Quantitative researchers typically examine relationships between variables through surveys and experiments (Hoe & Hoare, 2013). Quantitative research and design constraints require a large sample to test the hypotheses and more time for data processing (Parry et al., 2014; Venkatesh et al., 2013).

Qualitative researchers consider the real world while quantitative researchers deliberately influence and manage the real world's complexity to create a survey-like situation (Khan, 2014). A researcher using qualitative method presents an incomparable opportunity with which to design and assess theories (Chibangu, 2013). The qualitative research method is useful for answering the *what* and *how* questions (Bernard, 2013; Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The main advantage of qualitative research is the potential for researchers to explore a topic in depth (Clearry, Horsfall, & Harter, 2014). Researchers use qualitative method to interpret people's lived experiences (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Prowse & Camfield, 2013). Mixed methods researchers use a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods in a single study or a series of related studies (Bishop & Holmes, 2014). One advantage of the mixed methods approach is that researchers can mitigate the weakness of one method with the strength of the other method, and can enlarge the set of results (Bishop & Holmes, 2014). The mixed methods approach involves time constraints and high amount of money (Bishop & Holmes, 2014). Researchers using mixed methods approach found it difficult to achieve the correct mix of quantitative and qualitative methods (Bishop & Holmes, 2014).

The quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study because it would not have addressed my central research question. The mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this study because of the time constraints and the amount of money involved in carrying out the research study. The qualitative research method was appropriate for this study because I interpreted participants' experiences in improving internal control practices.

Research Design

The research design I selected for this study was a multiple case study. Other qualitative designs that I considered were narrative, ethnography, and phenomenology but their attributes are not ideal for this study. Researchers use the narrative design to study individual experiences of a social phenomenon, autobiographies, and telling stories (Ilkay, 2013; Scutt &Hobson, 2013). The narrative research design did not fit this study because the purpose of the study was about finding solutions to business problems. Safari and Thilenius (2013) posited that narrative research design is not suitable for finding solutions to business problems.

Ethnographic researchers study human groups and seek to explore how groups, organizations, or communities form and maintain a culture (Vesa & Vaara, 2014). Ethnography is of value in management and organization research because it allows immersion into the researched organization and access to the lived experiences of managers and other organizational members (Vesa & Vaara, 2014). Ethnographic research can be time-consuming and expensive, and it can be difficult to choose a representative sample (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; O'Byrne, 2016). The ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because I did not intend to immerse myself into people's lived experiences but to explore strategies business leaders use for improving internal control practices.

Researchers use phenomenological designs to focus on the lived experience of the participants under study and to develop a deeper understanding of their lived experiences (Lamb, 2013). Qualitative researchers use the phenomenological design to describe the essence of a phenomenon through the individuals' lived experience and their perception of an event (Abdulai & Owusu-Ansah, 2014). The phenomenological design was not suitable for this study because the purpose of this study was to explore useful information on internal control strategies and not lived experiences with a particular type of phenomenon.

The case study design involves the study of an individual, event, or program for a specified period (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). A case study design is useful to the researcher who needs to provide rich and detailed information on a particular issue or problem (Watson et al., 2016). Researchers use the case study design to reduce the gap between theory and practice by making the research helpful for practitioners (Hyett, Kenny &

54

Dickson-Swift, 2014). The multiple case study design is appropriate when the researcher is seeking to answer the *why*, *what*, and *how* research questions and the researcher has little or no control over events (Amerson, 2014; Yin, 2014). The multiple case study was most appropriate for this study on strategies leaders of SME use for improving internal control practices.

Data saturation occurs when no new information emerges from subsequent interviews (Clearry et al., 2014; O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). After completion of the interviews, participants will review interview transcripts for validation. A sample size of eight participants is appropriate to achieve data saturation in qualitative studies (Dworkin, 2012; Elo et al., 2014; Englander, 2012). I ensured data saturation by conducting continuous interviews until no new themes emerged. Eight participants were interviewed for the study.

Population and Sampling

The target population for the study consisted of top executive leaders of SMEs from Lagos, the commercial city of Nigeria. A sample of eight top executive leaders from four SME companies participated in the study. I interviewed eight participants and no new theme emerged, therefore data saturation was reached. The criteria for participant selection included (a) SME leadership for at least 5 years, (b) employers of less than 50 full-time workers, (c) residency in Lagos, and (d) use of effective internal control systems.

Sampling is essential to the practice of qualitative methods (Robinson, 2014). Purposive sampling technique is an effective tool for a qualitative examination of the small groups of participants in a study (Lucas, 2013). The purposeful sampling technique is useful in setting criteria for participants who have requisite experience and qualification about the research topic (Grossoechme, 2014; Moss, Gibson, & Dollarhide, 2014; Yin, 2014). Cronin-Gilmore (2012) used the purposeful sampling technique to find participants for a case study of the marketing strategies of small business owners. Researchers use purposive sampling to select participants based on unique characteristics of the issue under study (Nyman, Ballinger, Phillips, & Newton, 2013; Guetterman, 2015; Lucas, 2013). I used purposeful sampling to select leaders of small business with extensive knowledge who have implemented strategies for improving internal controls practices.

Probability and nonprobability sampling are the two major forms of sampling techniques (Yang & Banamah, 2014). Probability sampling rests on the notion that participants in a research study will be a representative of people in the whole population studied while nonprobability sampling is about applying the rule of thumb (Lynn et al., 2015). I selected the nonprobability sampling for this study because of the lack of sufficient information about the population.

Qualitative researchers should ensure that interview setting is appropriate to the study. Alshenqeeti (2014) and Muposhi (2016) posited that investigators should conduct interviews at places where participants are comfortable. I interviewed participants at their convenient venues. To ensure the environment was appropriate for the interview, I asked the participants to choose a venue they are comfortable with and will feel more at ease to express themselves freely. Using open-ended questions, I conducted the semistructured interviews at participants' convenient time, date, and place.

An Interview is a good method of obtaining information from participants in qualitative research (Lacono, Symonds, & Brown, 2016). Janghorban, Roudsari, and Taghipour (2014) opined that using video conferencing for interview is better than a telephone interview because the researcher can see the participant and get non-verbal messages that may be useful for the study. Lacono et al. advised researchers to use online interviews for busy participants. I conducted face-to-face or telephone or video conferencing interviews with the participants depending on their availability.

Ethical Research

Researchers should address ethical issues in human research (Aluchna & Mikolajczyk, 2013; Damianakis & Woodford, 2012; Mikesell, Bromley, & Khodyakov, 2013). Confidentiality, informed consent, and risks the study poses for participants are critical issues a researcher must consider (Killawi et al., 2014; Wallace & Sheldon, 2015). I sought for approval from the Walden University Institutional Research Board (IRB) before embarking on data collection. My IRB number is 09-22-17-0288236.

Before conducting interviews with participants, I wrote to seek their company's permission and approval from the company's representatives before contacting potential participants. Participants received, reviewed, and signed the informed consent form (see Appendix B) before their interviews. The essence of the informed consent form is to ensure compliance with the applicable ethical standards. The consent form contained the purpose of the study, a statement telling participants that they have the freedom to withdraw from the study before the end of the research, the potential risk that participants will face, and a discussion of how I will maintain the confidentiality of participants. Edwards et al. (2016) advised researchers to notify participants of procedures for

withdrawing from their study. Participants may withdraw from the study by notifying me through e-mail or phone call or text message or in person.

Participants who indicated their willingness to participate in the study completed the informed consent forms. Study participants names did not appear on the informed consent forms. Reed, Khoshnood, Blankenship, and Fisher (2014) and Yun, Han, and Lee (2013) posited that researchers should protect the confidentiality and privacy of participants. I used the codes P1 to P8 for the eight participants to maintain confidentiality and privacy. Amarasinghe et al. (2013) opined that researchers should not offer financial or nonfinancial incentives to participants. I did not offer any incentives, financial or non-financial, to any of the participants.

The *Belmont Report* of 1979, a product of the US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, applied to this study. The *Belmont Report* imparts three components for researchers to follow. First, shielding the independence of everyone, showing respect, and the necessity of participants being at liberty to give consent (Vanclay, Baines & Taylor, 2013). Second, beneficence involving optimizing advantages of the research study while minimizing risks to the research participants. Third, justice regarding making sure that rational, non exploitative, and thoughtful guidelines apply (Newington & Metcalfe, 2014).

I will keep audio recordings of participants' interviews, field notes, files and other papers in fireproof cabinets under lock and key for 5 years to protect the confidentiality of the participants. I used passwords to secure recordings in computer files and numeric codes to ensure the secrecy of participants' identity. Five years after concluding the study, I will permanently destroy all raw data by shredding and all electronic data relating to the research by using Eraser file and Shredder software.

Data Collection Instruments

As the researcher, I am the primary data collection instrument. The purpose of this study was to explore strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. Reliable data involve consistency and stability (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). Qualitative researchers use face-to-face or telephone interviews to collect data from participants (Grbich, 2012; Matheson et al., 2013; Turner & Danks, 2014). I used open-ended questions to collect data through face-to-face, video conferencing, or telephone interviews. Using more than one source to collect data could increase information basis, diversity of data, and reduction of biases (Battistella, 2014). I used the interviews, audio recording, and company documents as the primary sources of data collection.

The open-ended interview question is the main instrument to support data collection during the interview process (Kiage, 2013). A qualitative approach that uses research interview questions is useful in gathering a detailed and in-depth understanding of participants' experiences and views (Matheson et al., 2013; Turner & Danks, 2014). Bahn and Weatherill (2013) used semistructured face-to-face interviews to collect data. Interviews are one of the most important data collection instruments used by inductive qualitative researchers (Austin & Sutton, 2014; Lacono et al., 2016; Miguel & Zhou, 2013). Semistructured face-to-face interviews are important in qualitative research. I used semistructured interview to collect data from study participants.

Qualitative researchers use interview protocol as guide to ensure consistency of interview with each participant (Cooper et al., 2014; Morrison, Clement, Nestel, & Brown, 2016; Park & Park, 2016). The interview protocol contains the steps for the interview process and interview questions derived from the research question. I used interview protocol (see Appendix A) as a guide to conduct semistructured interviews with study participants. By using the interview protocol, I asked the same question in the same sequence to each participant to ensure consistency of interviews and avoid personal biases.

Member checking is when the participants review a researcher's interpretation of their responses to the research interview for data accuracy (Singh, 2014; Yilmaz, 2013). Qualitative researchers should conduct member checking before analyzing the data (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). After the interviews, I transcribed and interpreted the audio-recorded data into Microsoft Word document and shared with each participant for member checking.

Data Collection Technique

The responsibility for determining the most effective technique for collecting data lies with the researcher (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). I used face-to-face interviews, audio recording, and telephone calls to collect data for this study. Interviews are a very useful and effective way of collecting data in qualitative research (Austin & Sutton, 2014; Lacono et al., 2016). Three ways of conducting interviews are: structured, semistructured, and unstructured (Snelgrove, 2014). Researchers use structured interview to yield numerical data and report the data simply in tables and graphs (Alshenqeeti, 2014). An unstructured interview is an open-ended interview where there are flexibility and freedom by both the interviewers and interviewees in terms of planning, implementing, and organizing the interview content and questions (Alshenqeeti, 2014). The semistructured interview is a more flexible version of the structured interview because interviewers use the approach to probe and expand interviewee's responses (Alshenqeeti, 2014). The semistructured interview was ideal for this proposed study because I intend to probe and expand the participants' responses on the strategies they use for improving internal control practices.

Conducting semistructured interviews requires a great deal of care and planning before, during, and after the interviews regarding the ways of asking and interpreting questions. Semistructured interviews are useful in gaining an understanding of participants' behaviors and attitude (Crawford, 2013; Glowalla & Sunyaev, 2014). I conducted semistructured interviews with participants because the objective of the study was to seek clarification from participants and to gain an understanding of the strategies they use for improving internal control practices. The interview protocol (see Appendix A) contains the interview questions for the data collection phase.

The advantage of face-to-face interviews and video conferencing over the telephone interviews is the opportunity for interviewer to observe and interpret the body language, facial expression, pauses, and interruptions of interviewees (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). According to Doody and Noonan (2013), the disadvantages of conducting face-to-face interviews include (a) the perception of bias, (b) high cost of conducting interviews, and (c) time-consuming. Qualitative research use open-ended interview questions to collect data (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). I conducted face-to-face

interviews to collect data from eight business leaders from four SME companies operating in Lagos, Nigeria, at convenient venues.

Participants who are comfortable with technology may opt for telephone interviews or video conferencing. Telephone interviews are less time consuming, more convenient, cost effective, and result in low participant refusal rates compared with faceto-face interviews (Newington & Metcalfe, 2014). Other data collection techniques include observation, site visit, recipe, audio, and video recording. Austin and Sutton (2015), Byers and Onwuegbuzie (2014), and Hanson and Wiebelhaus (2016) supported the analysis of field notes and video recordings. Face-to-face interview has an advantage over video recording. Lacono et al. (2016) advised qualitative researchers to audio record interviews. I audio recorded all interviews with the permission of participants and took notes during the interviews to create reflex journal.

Leedy and Ormrod (2013) stated the importance of observing participants and taking note of inconsistencies during the narration of their experiences, demeanor, body languages, long pauses, nonverbal cues, and gesticulations. I sought the consent of participants to audio record interviews but in the absence of a participant's consent, I took comprehensive notes of the interview. Individual responses and identities of participants remain confidential to other persons or in any report (Novak, 2014). Participants will have the opportunity to indicate their agreement with the information disclosed and the validity of analysis (Gibson, Brand, & Benson, 2013; Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Mangioni & McKerchar, 2013). I ensured privacy, anonymity, and confidentiality of all participants' information.

62

Data Organization Techniques

The data organization process entails labelling each participant's audio recorded interview by date and place of interview. Recorded interviews bore alphabets and numbers instead of participant names. I used P1 through P8 to represent *Participant 1* through *Participant 8*. NVivo is a popular and useful software program for qualitative data management and analysis (Mabuza, Govender, Ogunbanjo, & Mash, 2014; Matheson et al., 2013). I uploaded the data collected into NVivo application for processing. I used NVivo software to organize the resulting interview data into different themes and analyze the data using content and thematic techniques.

Researchers should analyze field notes taken during interviews and archival documents collected from participants (Austin & Sutton, 2015; Coetzee, Kagee, & Bland 2016; Wiebelhaus & Hanson, 2016). I analyzed the observations recorded in the field notes taken during the interviews and documents collected from participants and incorporated them as part of the data collection. To ensure confidentiality, no one had access to the protected data files because I transcribed and coded the audio recordings and notes myself. I stored and secured the data files with passwords on a computer and fire proof safe for five years. I will permanently destroy all raw and electronic data after five years of completion of the doctoral study.

Data Analysis Technique

For the purpose of this study, I applied descriptive content and thematic analysis. Researchers use descriptive and thematic analysis for low level interpretation, identification, analysis, and reporting of themes within the data (Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013). I used triangulation approach to analyze data collected in this study. Data triangulation involves the use of various sources to obtain information that adds to the credibility of a study (Hutchins-Goodwin, 2013; Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Yin, 2014). Researchers using the with-in method of triangulation combine two or more data collection procedures, qualitative or quantitative but not both (Zohrabi, 2013). The with-in method of triangulation is useful when researchers are using observations or interviews as sources of data collection (Zohrabi, 2013). I used methodological triangulation to evaluate the information obtained from the interviews, audio recording, and analysis of company's documents on how to improve internal control among SMEs.

I began the analysis of data from interviews with separation and sorting of data by themes and used codes P1 through P8 to identify participants. The data analysis process involved inductive thematic approach. I used the NVivo application to code, collate, and analyze data. Researchers use computer-assisted qualitative data analysis to enhance their analytical process because the approach is easier and quicker to code, collate, and interpret data, and selects quotations for the final report (Mabuza et al., 2014). The popular computer-assisted programs are Hyper Research, NVivo, and ATLAS.ti (Mabuza et al., 2014). Upon coding of all information, NVivo involves a systematic process in research to increase validity and reliability of the study (Chaney, Barry, Chaney, Stellefson, & Webb, 2013). Matheson (2013) used NVivo for data analysis. I used the NVivo qualitative software program to organize the themes.

NVivo is useful in finding common themes and areas of disagreement by using constant comparison methods and to examine data for new meanings (Beasant et al., 2016). I analyzed the observations recorded in the field notes and audio recordings of participants taken during the interview and then incorporated them as part of data

64

collection. Austin and Sutton (2015), Leedy and Ormrod (2013), and Wiebelhaus and Hanson (2016) supported the analysis of field notes and audio recordings. The computer-assisted software was useful in sorting and data analysis.

Researchers use constant comparison analysis, word count classical analysis, and keyword-in-context techniques to analyze data (Houghton et al., 2013; Kirby et al., 2014; Onwuegbuzie, 2016). Constant comparison technique coding is helpful for using a whole dataset for classifying themes and breaking the data into smaller, more manageable categories. Keyword-in-context is a method for qualitative researchers to show the meaning of words used by respondents by comparing word used before and after the keyword. The word count system uses word patterns to create linguistic fingerprints that will enable the researcher to identify themes, associate common features among participants and literature and to maintain dependability. The classical content analysis is comparable to constant comparison analysis except that it goes beyond coding themes to develop interrelation between nodes and grouping (Mabuza et al., 2014). I used constant comparison analysis, word count classical analysis, and key-word-in-context techniques to analyze the data on internal controls, characteristics of SMEs in Nigeria, internal control deficiency, and control improvement among SMEs.

The conceptual framework is the connection between literature, methodology, and results of the study (Borrego, Foster, & Froyd, 2014). Most researchers rely on the study conceptual frameworks to interpret their study findings. I analyzed data in view of internal control theory and transactional leadership theory to assist me in interpreting the meaning of the expected data.

Reliability and Validity

Qualitative researchers establish the reliability and validity of their study findings. To establish rigor in qualitative research, investigators use the term trustworthiness to describe credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability of the study findings (Elo et al., 2014). In this section, I will discuss how to establish the reliability and validity of the study findings.

Reliability

Reliability refers to the degree one researcher can replicate another researchers' quality of results within a similar context (Leung, 2015). Researchers use of member checking to enhance reliability (Grossoehme, 2014; Hougton et al., 2013; Zohrabi, 2013). Member checking is when the participants review researcher's interpretation of the interviews (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). To enhance reliability in this study, I documented the sequence of data process and analysis, conducted member checking, and used methodological triangulation.

Dependability: Dependability refers to the stability of findings over time (Anney, 2014). To enhance dependability, researchers audio record the interview, transcribe verbatim, use computer Nvivo to code and analyze participants' data (Gale et al., 2013). I audio recorded the interview, transcribed word for word, and used NVivo application to code and analyze data. Houghton et al. (2013) posited that researchers conduct member checking to ensure the accuracy of information. I used member checking by allowing the participants to review and authenticate the data. The stability of findings over time is important in qualitative research.

By using the same data analysis procedures to reach the same results, researchers could ensure the dependability of the research (Mangioni & McKerchar, 2013; Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2014; Suen, Huang, & Lee, 2014). Recording of interviews word-for-word will also ensure dependability. Tong et al. (2014) opined the use of NVivo to code and analyze data. I audio recorded the interview, transcribed verbatim the recorded interviews, and used computer software NVivo to code and analyze data. Analysis of reliable data is important in qualitative research.

Validity

Participants play a vital role in the credibility of qualitative data. To ensure the credibility of data, I will request participants to verify interview transcripts. Researchers use semistructured interviews with open-ended questions without bias to add credibility to their research (Collins & Cooper, 2014). Amiri, Tehrami, Simbar, Thamtan, and Shiva (2014) supported the view about the role of participants in ensuring the accuracy of research information. Despite the drawbacks associated with member checking, most qualitative researchers use the process to add validity and credibility to the interpretation process (Tong, Chapman, Israni, Gordon, & Craig, 2013). Member checking takes place only with transcripts review or early interpretations (Buvik & Rolfsen, 2015). I shared interview transcripts with participants to validate the interpreted transcripts for possible errors in transcription and code inconsistencies. By reviewing themes, descriptions, and analyses, the participants were able to determine the accuracy of details, themes, and interpretation of the interview information.

Transferability: Transferability refers to the extent that the findings of a qualitative research context specific not generalized but is transferable (Houghton et al.,

2013). Transferability reflects the range and limitations of the application of the findings beyond the context of the study (Munn et al., 2014; Crawford, 2013; Holm & Severinsson, 2013). A researcher can increase transferability by providing rich descriptions of the population and geographic boundaries of the studies (Suen et al., 2014). Researchers examine the trustworthiness of every stage of the analysis process including the preparation, organization, and reporting of results (Elo et al., 2014). I provided detailed descriptions of the sample population, geographic boundaries, context for data collection, and study findings to ensure transferability of study findings.

Confirmability: Confirmability is one of the criteria researchers use to evaluate the rigor of qualitative research. Strategies to determine confirmability in research includes audit trail and reflexivity (Houghton et al., 2013). Confirmability refers to the neutrality and accuracy of data (Anney, 2014). Audit trail rigor is achievable throughout the research process to provide a reason for the methodological and interpretative judgments of the research (Anney, 2014). Houghton et al. noted the importance of maintaining a reflective diary during research. Qualitative researchers use reflective diary shield to provide the rationale for the decision made, instinct, and personal challenges that they experience during the research (Houghton et al., 2013). I maintained a reflective diary during the study to enhance confirmability of research findings.

Credibility: Credibility refers to the level of objectivity or neutrality of the researcher in data collection and reporting (Holm & Severinsson, 2013). To ensure credibility of research results, researchers should focus on the data and be devoid of personal interests and biases (Hammarström, Wiklund, Lindahl, Larsson, & Ahlgren, 2014). Holm and Severinsson (2013) and Mabuza et al. (2014) used triangulation

approach to ensure credibility by adopting semistructured interviews and participants' observation. I used the methodological triangulation approach to ensure credibility of the proposed study.

Data Saturation: To enhance data saturation, I ensured that data is appropriate to depth and breadth of information. Failure to reach data saturation has an impact on the quality of research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Each researcher must answer the question of how many interviews are enough to reach data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Researchers do not use one-size-fits-all method to reach data saturation because study designs are not universal (Fusch & Ness, 2015). However, researchers have identified some general principles and concepts to achieve data saturation: no new data, no new themes, no new coding, and ability to replicate the study (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Vaismoradi et al., 2013). To ensure data saturation, I continued the interview until participant answers become repetitive and no new information was available.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 contained information on the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants of the study, justification for the research method and design, population and sampling, and ethical research. Other elements in Section 2 are narratives on data collection instrument and technique, data organization and analysis, and validity and reliability of the study. In Section 3, I will present the findings of the study, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for actions and further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the strategies leaders of SMEs in Lagos, Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. Eight business leaders of small and medium businesses participated in this study and provided me with the primary data to answer the overarching research question. Based on the participants' responses to the interview questions, I identified five themes: (a) segregation of duty, (b) adherence to processes, policies, and procedures, (c) staffing, training, and experience, (d) information technology, and (e) staff empowerment and management commitment. The findings from this study indicate that leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use similar strategies to improve internal control practices. Section 3 will include the presentation of study findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for actions and further research, reflections, and a conclusion.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for this study was: What strategies do leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use to improve internal control practices? Hsiung and Wang (2014) posited that small firms experience internal control weaknesses such as pilferages. Egbunike (2014) identified the non- availability of controls as the greatest problem with internal control activities.

The global financial crisis involving corporate fraud and business failures in the last 2 decades are indicators for business leaders to pay more attention to improving their internal control activities (Egbunike, 2014; Fourie &Ackermann, 2013; Kumar & Singh, 2013). Gupta et al. (2013) stated that small business leaders should plan and establish some basic internal controls and procedures to boost the survival of their businesses. By establishing a strong internal control system, business leaders tend to minimize the possibility for management abuse and promote a good enterprise governance culture (Isaac, 2014). Leaders of SMEs should understand the importance of establishing effective internal control practices.

Researchers advised SME leaders to strengthen the internal control of their firms for improved business sustainability (Kumar & Singh, 2013; Siwangaza et al., 2014). Because of shortage of human and financial resources, some SME leaders have not established internal control systems (Luyolo et al., 2014). The most effective activity business leaders use to minimize fraud is to improve the firm's internal control practices (Leng & Zhao, 2013).

The five themes I identified in this study are (a) segregation of duty, (b) adherence to processes, policies, and procedures, (c) staffing, training, and experience, (d) information technology, and (e) staff empowerment and management commitment. In the following subsections, I will present the five themes that emerged from my thematic analysis of the participants' responses to the interview questions.

Theme 1: Segregation of Duty

Practitioners and scholars demonstrated that segregation of duty is critical to improving internal control practices. Adedokun et al. (2016) posited that effective internal audit function is essential to the success of a firm. Feng et al. (2015) opined that improper segregation of duties is a major reason for weaknesses in internal control among companies. Most SME leaders cannot afford to segregate duties because of limited human and financial resources (Jiahui, 2015; Moldof, 2014). Firms can improve their internal control systems by effective separation of duties (Missioura, 2014). A critical activity in the implementation of internal controls is segregation of duties among staff (Jong-Hag et al., 2013). During the interview, all participants acknowledged using segregation of duty as a strategy for improving their internal control practices.

The theme of segregation of duty emerged from Interview Questions 1, 2, 5, and 9. In response to Interview Question 1, participant P1 stated, "A whole unit is set up to take care of internal control within our organization." while P3 said, "We have the segregation of duties which is well defined to individual office holders." Responding to Interview Question 1, P4 stated, "What we do proper segregation of duties and ensure everything flows and work well for the organization." and P7 said, "Also, segregation of duties... I have to write them individually their duties and I have done assessment on that." In response to Interview Question 2, participant P2 illustrated the effectiveness of segregation of duty and stated, "When we want to pay supplier the person that raises the cheque is different, the person that sign the cheque is different, the person that give out the cheque is different."

Responding to Interview Question 5, some of the participants said:

- "We have organization structure, line of duties, and responsibilities." (P3)
- "No one person starts a process and concludes it, we have a person that will check then we have people that will sign and say now is okay." (P4)
- "Internal control unit should be independent and report line should report directly to the board of directors." (P5)

- We have segregation of duties. One person should not start a process and finish it. Activities have to be segregated for proper accountability and transparency." (P6)
- "The first component is segregation of duties." (P8)

In response to Interview Question 9, participant P1 recognized the importance of segregation of duty through establishment of an internal control unit and stated, "There should be a unit set up for internal control in every organization that hopes to grow."

The statements of all the participants were consistent with the findings of Feng et al. (2015), Missioura (2014), and Jong-Hag et al. (2013), who reported that segregation of duty is a useful strategy for improving internal control practices. All of the participants in this study confirmed using segregation of duty to improve the internal control practice in their SMEs.

Theme 2: Adherence to Processes, Policies, and Procedures

An organization's management team should establish procedures to ensure internal control and provide reports to relevant authorities (Whitehouse, 2013). By establishing or raising the standard of preventive and detective internal controls, leaders of SMEs help to improve access to funds (Luyolo et al., 2014). Business leaders should drive internal control policies in their organizations (Whitehouse, 2013). Corporate leaders should deploy internal control activities through policies that establish expectation and procedures that put policies into action (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). Feng et al. (2015) attributed internal control weaknesses to deficient revenue recognition policies. For effective implementation of an internal control system, business leaders should establish and maintain procedures (Abdulsaleh & Worthington, 2013; Kukreja, 2016). The theme of adherence to processes, policies, and procedures emerged from Interview Questions 1, 2, 5-10. All participants recognized the significance of adhering to established processes, policies, and procedures for improving internal control practices.

In response to Interview Question 2, participant P4 stated, "To the point that things are going very well and processes are being followed." and P5 said, "One of the way of carrying out our activities is by reviewing our policies and our procedures." Responding to Interview Question 1, some of the participants said:

- "There is manual of procedures which they use as a guide to know what should be done per time." (P1)
- "Every transaction goes through processes" (P2)
- "We have an authorization policy, who is to authorize and who is to obey."
 (P3)
- "We have procedure in place to check and balance." (P4)
- "From time to time we review the procedures and policies that have been put in place to ensure they are being carried out as intended." (P5)
- "We compare our SOP with normal standard we have set and brainstorm on the weakness and how to address the weaknesses." (P6)

Responding to Interview Question 5, P1 stated, "Another is procedural manual because with that we have laid down rules to follow and monitor that staff duly follow the rules." and P4 said, "We have procedures to follow." In response to Interview Question 5, participant P6 highlighted the importance of adherence to procedure and stated, "Each transaction that is going out of the system must be duly authorized." P7 said, "There should be standard rules, principles guiding an organization, rules, and regulations that a company must not go against, which governs their operations." and P8 stated, "We have procedural manual to guide staff on ways of operations."

Interview Question 6 explored the key success factors in setting up internal control and participants P4, P6, P7, and P8 identified the adherence to processes, policies, and procedures as a strategy for improving internal control in SMEs. Participant P4 stated, "The key success factors include the explanation of procedures to staff." and P6 said, "Management commitment to ensure our standard procedure is being implemented." Participant P7 stated, "We follow the procedures that have been agreed by both management and staff." and P8 mentioned, "adherence to procedures" as a key success factor for improving internal control. In response to Interview Question 7, all the participants said:

- "As leader, I am subject to the laid down rules and regulations. I make sure I work according to the rule and regulations." (P1)
- "We are constantly looking at our process. We are constantly reviewing our Standard of Operations." (P2)
- "I ensure I put relevant policies and procedures in place." (P3)
- "Continuous redefining of the process, review our procedures for changes and correction." (P4)
- "As an enterprise leader one of the things we are doing is ensure regulatory compliance because of the nature of our job." (P5)
- "Regular review of our internal control system... We review internal control system to meet day to day activities of the company." (P6)

- "We make sure policies are being implemented, correct accountability to measure the company progress, and positive and proactive in implementing internal control policies." (P7)
- "We modify our operation to meet up with the standard we set for ourselves." (P8)

P3's response to Interview Question 8 identified the need for leaders of SMEs to put procedures in place to improve internal control practices. In response to Interview Question 9, P5 stated, "There should be procedural manual for internal control process and across board." Responding to Interview Question 10, participant P7 said, "There should be standard, rules, and principles guiding the organization."

The participants' responses echoed the study of Abdulsaleh and Worthington (2013), Feng et al. (2015), Kukreja (2016), and Whitehouse (2013), who stated that adherence to established processes, policies, and procedures are crucial in successful internal control practice. Leaders of SMEs confirmed the use of adherence to established processes, policies, and procedures as strategy for improving internal control practice. All of the participants used adherence to established processes, policies, and procedures as a strategy to improve their internal control practice.

Theme 3: Staffing, Training, and Experience

Human resource is critical to an internal control because staff may constitute the greatest danger to improving internal control practice by compromising standard and collusion (Bongani, 2013; Suciu & Bârsan, 2013). Business leaders should recruit, train, and retain capable staff in conformity with their business objectives (Whitehouse, 2013). Feng et al. (2015) attributed the weaknesses in internal control to lack of qualified

personnel. Moldof (2014) opined that most SME leaders employ staff who are not competent to improve internal control practice. Atu et al. (2014) posited that training of staff before and after implementation is vital for internal control. To successfully establish and implement an internal control system, business owners should ensure proper training and education of staff (Abdulsaleh & Worthington, 2013; Kukreja, 2016). The theme of staffing, training, and experience emerged from Interview Questions 1-3, 5-7, and 10. Six of the participants recognized the importance of staffing, training, and experience in improving internal control practices.

Responding to Interview Question 1, participant P1 said, "The staff in that unit are well trained to ensure they have relevant experiences, information, training, and skills useful for the unit." In response to Interview Question 1, P4, stated, "Also, experience personnel to ensure we have sound internal control staff." Responding to Interview Question 1, participant P5 said, "Oftentimes our internal control personnel are sent on training that will better strengthen their knowledge in internal control." In response to Interview Question 2, P5 stated, "Our employees are sent out on training." Responding to Interview Question 3, P2 said, "Staff in the unit are well trained to ensure they have adequate information and skills useful for the unit." In response to Interview Question 5, P2 stated, "The main component is staffing. Primarily speaking no matter how if the human resources is faulty, then your internal control will be messed up either deliberately or ignorantly."

In response to Interview Question 6, P2 noted that staffing is a key success factor in setting an internal control unit and P7 stated, "Staff are educated about the procedures of the firm." Responding to Interview Question 6, participant P3 said, "Recruiting the right staff for internal control is essential to achieving the purpose of setting up the internal control unit. Training is important in getting the best of staff in the internal control unit." In response to Interview Question 7, P1 stated, "Also training of our people is very important, we ensure that we train them adequately so they acquire the needed skills for their jobs." and P2 said, "We are constantly training our people." Responding to Interview Question 10, some of the participants said:

- "Also training of staff." (P1)
- "We must continue to train our human resource and retraining." (P2)
- "Well, I think training, education, and interaction with some of the best players in the industry are very important." (P3)
- "There is need to educate staff, when people are better informed about what they ought to do at the appropriate time and get feedback from time to time."
 (P5)
- "There should be staff training." (P7)

The participants' responses to the interview questions aligned with Abdulsaleh and Worthington's (2013), Atu et al.'s (2014), and Kukreja's (2016) statements that business leaders use staffing, training, and experience to improve internal control. The study findings indicated that leaders of SMEs used staffing, training, and experience as a strategy for improving internal control. Seventy-five percent of the participants attested to using staffing, training, and experience as a strategy for improving internal control practice.

Theme 4: Information Technology

The fourth COSO's component of the internal control framework is information and communication (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). Information technology is an important part of the operations within firms, which use computers to process information, and impacts every aspect of accounting, including financial reporting, managerial accounting, auditing, and tax (Rubino, Vitolla, & Garzoni, 2017). Organizational leaders may use ICT to harmonize best business practices in a firm (Frazer, 2011). Every firm should establish an effective IT governance to meet the organization's needs regarding the internal control system (Haislip, Masli, Richardson, & Watson, 2015). Researchers and practitioners have demonstrated that information technology is a primary competitive and strategic competency for most businesses (Rubino et al., 2017). The theme of information technology emerged from Interview Questions 1, 5-7, and 10. Six of the participants indicated they used information technology as strategy for improving their internal control practice.

In response to Interview Question 1, participant P3 said, "In addition, in accounting department and secretariat department they make use of password on their systems in order to protect some certain confidential information and file." Interview Question 5 explored the major components of an effective internal control strategy. Responding to Interview Question 5, some of the participants said:

• "One major strategy for effective internal control is technology because we use technology with a good application to be able to carry out our business activities." (P1)

- "The next is technology. For example, before we are running a software that is not as robust as it is now but today we are running a software system that helps our internal control process." (P2)
- "IT system must be very okay or else it may lead to fraudulent act." (P7)
- "The major component is use of technologies." (P8)

Interview Question 6 explored the key success factor in setting up an internal control in an enterprise. In response to Interview Question 6, P7 stated, "Use of technology also helps in the implementation of procedures." and P8 said, "the use of Information technology" is a key success factor for the firm's internal control. Responding to Interview Question 7, P2 remarked, "We are constantly looking at upgrading our technology."; P5 attested, "We are technologically compliant that we are phasing out the manual way of our operation."; and P8 stated, "We adopt new technology." In response to Interview Question 10, participant P1 advised leaders of SME to, "consider the use of technology because technology is very important." and P2 noted that technology is key to effective internal control practice.

The participants' responses to the interview questions aligned with COSO Internal Control Framework's (2013), Haislip et al.'s (2015), and Rubino et al.'s (2017) statements that business leaders use information technology to improve internal control. The study findings indicated that leaders of SMEs used information technology as a strategy for improving internal control. As applied to this study, 75% of the participants attested to using information technology as a strategy for improving internal control practice.

Theme 5: Staff Empowerment and Management Commitment

Organizational leaders should make employees accountable for their internal control activities (COSO Internal Control Framework, 2013). Business leaders who establish control environment that emphasize ethics, regulatory compliance, and high-quality staff performance, demonstrate to employees that they are committed to accountability and transparency (Rubino et al., 2017). Järvinen and Myllymäki (2016) posited that management's commitment to provision of effective internal control system and high-quality financial information is a demonstration of leadership competence and attitude toward financial reporting and integrity. The theme of staff empowerment and management commitment emerged from Interview Questions 1, 5-7, and 10. Five of the participants acknowledged the significance of staff empowerment and management commitment in improving internal control practices.

In response to Interview Question 1, participant P1 stated, "The members of internal control unit are empowered to take decision." Responding to Interview Question 5, P1 said, "Another one is empowerment of the staff of that unit, we empower them." In response to Interview Question 6, some of the participants said:

- "The internal control staff have authority to carry out their duties." (P1)
- "If internal control has the backing of the management, it can go any department and ask for any document to carry out their activities." (P5)
- "Management is committed to the internal control system." (P6)
- "And also, organizational commitment for implementation of strong internal control policies." (P7)

Responding to Interview Question 7, P1 said, "Management override can adversely affect internal control unit if a leader fails to lead by example." and P3 stated, "As a leader, I try to lead by example." In response to Interview Question 10 involving additional information on effective strategies for improving internal control, participant P1 advised business leaders to ensure, "the internal control unit is well empowered to do their work."

The participants' responses to the interview questions aligned with COSO Internal Control Framework's (2013), Rubino et al.'s (2017), and Järvinen and Myllymäki's (2016) statements that staff empowerment and management commitment is crucial to improving internal control. The study findings indicated that leaders of SMEs used staff empowerment and management commitment as strategy for improving internal control. As applied to this study, 62.5% of the participants attested to using staff empowerment and management commitment as a strategy for improving internal control practice.

Findings Related to ICT

The five components of the internal control framework are (a) control environments, (b) risk assessment, (c) control activities, (d) information and communication, and (e) monitoring (Pang & Li, 2013; Rubino et al., 2017; Whitehouse, 2013). The first four components relate to the design and generation of the system of internal control while the fifth component ensures that internal control operates without hinderance (Missioura, 2014). The study findings indicate that leaders of SMEs could improve internal control practice through establishment of internal control framework. The most effective activity an organization can embark upon to minimize fraud is to improve its internal control practices (Leng & Zhao, 2013). As applied in this study, leaders of SMEs should establish strategies for improving internal control practice. All participants confirmed the ICT regarding the establishment of internal control framework for improving internal control practice.

The greatest problem with internal control activities is the non-availability of controls (Egbunike, 2014). When separation of functions is lacking, COSO directs attention to the use of management examination and reconciliation to boost controls (Whitehouse, 2013). As applied in this study, all participants' responses echoed Whitehouse's statement on the use for segregation of duty to improve internal control practice.

Findings Related to Transactional Leadership Theory

Transactional leadership is managerial control that focus on the role of supervision, organization, and performance (McCleskey, 2014; Tyssen, Wald, & Spieth, 2014). Transactional leadership is responsive, works within the organizational culture, and motivates followers by appealing to their self-interest (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). The transactional leadership approach uses a one-size-fits-all universal approach to leadership theory construction that puts aside situational and contextual factors related to organization challenges (El-Zayaty, 2016; McCleskey, 2014). As applied to this study, 62.5% of the participants attested to using leadership style of management commitment to improve internal control practice.

Transactional leadership behavior centers on cooperation through the exchange of rewards and punishments based on the followers' performance (Mahdinezhad et al., 2013). Transactional leaders focus on processes instead of forward thinking ideas and the leadership style is ideal in crisis and emergency situations (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). The findings of this study indicate that leaders of SMEs could improve internal control practice by empowering staff to do their work. As applied to this study, 62.5% of the participants confirmed to use of staff empowerment to improve internal control practice.

Applications to Professional Practice

Researchers and practitioners have recognized the need for business leaders to improve their internal control activities (Adedokun et al., 2016; Egbunike, 2014; Fourie & Ackermann, 2013; Kumar & Singh, 2013). By planning and establishing some basic internal controls and procedures, small business leaders could enhance the survival of their firms (Gupta et al., 2013). The findings of this study could contribute to information sharing among leaders of SMEs seeking strategies for improving internal control practice. Small business leaders with weak internal control may use the findings of this study to increase their profitability, thereby attracting investors and enhancing the business sustainability.

A vital part of corporate governance is internal control (Gyebi & Quain, 2013). The internal control process is pertinent to three areas of a business: efficiency and effectiveness of operations, reliable financial reporting, and conformity with relevant laws and guidelines (Ayam, 2015). Based on the study findings, the most significant contribution to professional practice may be the identification of potential strategies leaders of SMEs use to improve internal control practice. Leaders of existing SMEs may use the findings of the study in setting up and strengthening their internal control systems. Small business leaders may use the results of this study to establish an excellent internal control system to sustain their businesses and prevent loss of income. By establishing efficient internal controls, managers obtain consistent financial statements and reasonable assurance that records are accurate to enable them make crucial business decisions (Tong et al., 2014). Organizational leaders implement effective internal control for effectual attainment of the firms' general and specific goals (Muceku, 2014). The study findings may help business groups including governmental and nongovernmental agencies to gain useful information on how to improve internal control practices. New and upcoming leaders of small businesses may use the findings of the study to understand the role of internal control system which could help them in developing a successful internal control framework.

Johnston and Spencer (2011) identified four types of internal control, which include preventive, detective, corrective, and compensating. Luyolo et al. (2014) advised business leaders to establish or improve the standard of preventive and detective internal controls to enhance their access to funds. Shareholders, investors, and the general public may use the results of this study to understand that effective internal control system is useful in protecting business investments and preventing loss of companies' assets. The results of this study may assist researchers and practitioners to bridge the knowledge gap on strategies and best practices for improving internal control systems.

Implications for Social Change

The lack of internal control is a major cause of business failure because organizational leaders did not achieve their corporate objectives (Kumar & Singh, 2013; Siwangaza et al., 2014; Stone, 2016). By improving the internal control activities of a firm, SME leaders could sustain their businesses. As demonstrated in this study findings, improving internal control might assist leaders of SMEs to minimize loss of company assets and boost profitability, which may increase the firm's corporate social responsibility to the communities.

The study findings may contribute to positive social change by assisting leaders of SMEs to understand the strategies for improving internal control systems and gain adequate knowledge to establish effective internal control framework. With improved internal control practice, leaders of SMEs may reduce or minimize financial losses and sustain their businesses. By applying the suggestions of this study, business leaders may remain in business to provide job opportunities to local citizens and promote economic growth in the local community.

Leaders of SMEs face internal control challenges and lack strategies to improve internal control practice for enhancing profitability and business continuity (Othman & Ali, 2014). Because of shortage of human and financial resources, many SME leaders are reluctant to establish internal control systems (Luyolo et al., 2014). By improving the internal control systems, leaders of SMEs will improve their business performance and pay more taxes which community leaders will use to provide social amenities such as hospitals, libraries, and schools to the local citizens. The general public might learn from the strategies leaders of SMEs use to improve internal control practice.

Recommendations for Action

An effective internal control framework is crucial to the growth and sustainability of SMEs. Internal control practice is critical to the sustainability of businesses (Kumar & Singh, 2013; Siwangaza et al., 2014). The global financial crisis of 2007 and 2008 necessitated the need for business leaders to improve the internal control in their firms (Kumar & Singh, 2013). With increasing trend in corporate fraud and business failures, managers have recognized the demand to improve internal controls in their companies (Fourie &Ackermann, 2013). Thirty-eight percent of small businesses have internal control unit (ACFE, 2016; Stone, 2016). I recommend that leaders of SMEs explore new strategies for improving internal control systems.

Some leaders of SMEs lack the strategies for improving internal control systems. Researchers have demonstrated that lack of internal control has a negative effect on the profits and continuity of business (Othman & Ali, 2014). The shortage of human and financial resources is deterring leaders of SMEs from establishing internal control systems (Luyolo et al., 2013). I recommend that leaders of SMEs should make adequate provision of human and financial resources for effective establishment, implementation, and maintenance of internal control system.

The study findings indicate that leaders of SMEs use a combination of strategies to improve the internal control practice. I recommend SME leaders should have adequate leadership skills and competency to identify the appropriate strategies for improving the internal control system. I will disseminate the findings of this study to interested groups through presentations at seminars, trainings, and conferences on fraud management and publications in business and academic journals.

Recommendations for Further Research

The aim of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. Researchers advised SME leaders to strengthen their internal control practice for business sustainability (Fourie & Ackermann, 2013; Kumar & Singh, 2013; Siwangaza et al., 2014). This study was limited to cross-sectional, qualitative multiple case study involving leaders of SMEs in Lagos, Nigeria. I recommend future researchers should explore longitudinal, quantitative or mixed methods, involving all levels of the organization at different geographical locations.

The study was limited to my accurate interpretation of the participants' responses because I am evolving in knowledge and competency regarding doctoral research study. Morsea, Lowerya, and Steurya (2014) posited that novice researchers experience challenges organizing participants' responses into themes to gain in-depth understanding of the research problem. I recommend future study involving research experts from related disciplines in fraud management and business sustainability.

Another limitation of the study was the sample size of eight leaders of SMEs. Robinson (2014) opined that researchers who use larger or smaller sample size may generate different themes. I recommend future researchers should use larger or smaller sample size of participants that cut across the different levels of the organizational hierarchy from various industrial sectors.

Reflections

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the strategies leaders od SMEs in Lagos, Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. From the research findings, I learned that leaders of SMEs use a combination of similar strategies to improve internal control practices. By reflecting on my experiences within the DBA doctoral study process, I recognized that I gained a better understanding and knowledge of the research process which positively changed my personal biases and preconceived ideas and values. The learnings from conducting this doctoral research study improved my knowledge and understanding of academic research. I used the purposive sampling technique to select eight leaders of SMEs who had relevant experience and knowledge to answer the research question. My choice of qualitative multiple case study enabled me to conduct semistructured interviews and provided me with opportunity to interact with the research participants. By interacting with the research participants, I observed improvements in my interpersonal, communications, networking, emotional intelligence, and listening skills. By conducting the semistructured interviews at the participants' preferred venue and time, the respondents expressed themselves freely and I was able to gain an in-depth understanding of the strategies they use for improving internal control practices.

Reflecting on the participants' responses during the semistructured interviews, I noted that respondents use combination of similar strategies for improving the internal control practices. Based on their knowledge and experiences, the participants contentedly shared their different perceptions of the interview questions, which enabled me to gain a better understanding of the research problem. The knowledge and understanding I gained from the eight participants changed my preconceived ideas and values and personal biases on the strategies SME leaders use for improving internal control practice.

Conclusion

Leaders of SMEs face internal control challenges involving loss of assets which affect business profitability and sustainability. The aim of this qualitative, multiple case study was to use the ICT and transactional leadership theory as lenses to explore the strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. I used open-ended questions and conducted semistructured interviews with eight SME leaders to collect data to answer the research question. Five themes emerged from the thematic analysis of data indicating the strategies leaders of SMEs in Nigeria use for improving internal control practices. The themes are (a) segregation of duty, (b) adherence to processes, policies, and procedures, (c) staffing, training, and experience, (d) information technology, and (e) staff empowerment and management commitment.

Leaders of small businesses with weak internal control may use the findings of this study to increase their profitability, thereby attracting investors and enhancing their business sustainability. By improving internal control practices, leaders of SMEs might minimize loss of company assets and boost profitability, which may increase their corporate social responsibility to the local communities. The study findings support the conclusions of previous scholars on the importance and benefits of improving internal control practices for business profitability and sustainability.

References

- Abbass, D. A., & Aleqab, M. M. (2013). Internal auditors' characteristics and audit fees:
 Evidence from Egyptian firms. *International Business Research*, *6*, 67-80.
 doi:10.5539/ibr.v6n4p67
- Abdulai, R., T., & Owusu-Ansah, A. (2014). Essential ingredients of a good research proposal for undergraduate and postgraduate students in the social sciences. *Sage Open*, *4*, 1-15 doi:10.1177/2158244014548178
- Abdulsaleh, A. M., & Worthington, A. C. (2013). Small and medium-sized enterprises financing: A review of literature. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 47-54. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p36
- Ademola, I., Olaleye, S., Ajayi, E., & Edun, F. (2013). Why small scale businesses failed as a remedy to unemployment problem in Nigeria. *Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 8, 56-61. doi:10.9790/0837-0845661
- Agwu, M. O. (2014). Issues, challenges, and prospects of small and medium scale enterprises (SMEs) in Port Harcourt City, Nigeria. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, *3*, 101-114. doi:10.14207/ejsd.V3nlp 101
- Alarape, A. A. (2013). Entrepreneurial orientation and the growth performance of small and medium enterprises in South Western Nigeria. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, 26, 553-577. doi:10.1080/08276331.2014.892308
- Al-Hyari, K. (2013). Identification of barrier factors and potential solutions to SMEs development among Jordanian manufacturing sector. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(24), 132-140. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n24p132

Al-Sawai, A. (2013). Leadership of healthcare professionals: Where do we stand? Oman

Medical Journal, 28, 285-287. doi:10.5001/omj.2013.79

- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review. *English Linguistics Research*, *3*(1), 41-45. doi:10.5430/elr.v3n1p39
- Aluchna, M., & Mikolajczyk, O. (2013). Ethical dilemmas of young economists: The case of Warsaw School of Economics students. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 9, 298-315. doi:10.1108/SRJ-06-2011-0012
- Amanchukwu, R. N., Stanley, G. J., & Ololube, N. P. (2015). A review of leadership theories, principles and styles and their relevance to educational management. *Management*, 5(1), 6-14. doi:10.5923/j.mm.20150501.02
- Amarasinghe, M., Tan, H., Larkin, S., Ruggeri, B., Lobo, S., Brittain, P., & Schumann, G. (2013). Banking the brain. *EMBO Reports*, *14*, 400-404. doi:10.1038/embor.2013.46/full
- Amerson, R., & Livingston, W. G. (2014). Reflexive photography an alternative method for documenting the learning process of cultural competence. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 25(2), 202-210. doi:10.1177/1043659613515719
- Amiri, F., Tehrami, F., Simbar, M., Thamtan, R., & Shiva, N. (2014). Female gender scheme is disturbed by Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *Iran Red Crescent Medical Journal*, 16(2), 2-8. doi:10.5812/ircmj.12423
- Andre, S., Pennington, A., & Smith, B. L. (2014). Fraud education: A module-based approach for all business majors. *Business Education & Accreditation*, 6(1), 81-94. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational*

Research and Policy Studies, 5(2), 272-281. Retrieved from

http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com

- Arham, A. F. (2014). Leadership and performance: The case of Malaysian SMES in the services sector. *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, *4*, 343-355.
 Retrieved from http://www.aessweb.com
- Asaolu, T. O., Adedokun, S. A., & Monday, J. U. (2016). Promoting good governance through internal audit function (IAF): The Nigerian experience. *International Business Research*, 9, 196-204. doi:10.5539/ibr.v9n5p196
- Association of Certified Fraud Examiners. (2016). ACFE report to the nations on occupational fraud and abuse, 2016 global fraud study; about the report. Internal threats. Retrieved from https://www.acfe.com/rttn2016/docs/2016-report-to-thenations.pdf
- Atu, O., Adeghe, R., & Atu, K. (2014). Internal control as a potential instrument for corporate governance. *IOSR Journal of Economics and Finance (IOSR-JEF)*, 2, 66-70. doi:10.9790/5933-0266670
- Austin, Z., & Sutton, J. (2014). Qualitative research: Getting started. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 67(6), 436-440. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Ayam, J. R. A. (2015). An Analysis of revenue cycle internal controls in Ghanaian universities. *Business and Management*, 2(2), 1-17. doi:10.5296/csbm.v2i2.7320
- Badara, M. S., & Saidin, S. Z. (2013). The journey so far on internal audit effectiveness:A calling for expansion. *International Journal of Academic Research in*

Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences, 3, 340-351.

doi:10.6007/IJARAFMS/v3-i3/225

- Bahn, S., & Weatherill, P. (2013). Qualitative social research: A risky business when it comes to collecting 'sensitive' data. *Qualitative Research*, *13*(1), 19-35. doi:10.1177/1468794112439016
- Balkaran, L. (2013). The importance of an audit manual. *The Internal Auditor*, 70(2), 17-19. Retrieved from https://iaonline.theiia.org
- Basri, H. (2014). Using qualitative research in accounting and management studies: Not a new agenda. *Journal of US-China Public Administration*, *11*, 831-838.
 doi:10.17265/1548-6591/2014.10.003
- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 8(1), 9-32. doi:10.1080/135943299398410
- Bass, B. M. (2000). The future of leadership in learning organizations. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 7, 18-40.
 doi:10.1177/107179190000700302
- Bass, B. M. (2008). The Bass handbook of leadership: Theory, research, & managerial applications (4th ed.). New York, NY: Free Press.
- Battistella, C. (2014). The organization of corporate foresight: A multiple case study in the telecommunication industry. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 87, 60-79. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2013.10.022
- Beaver, G. (2003). Small business: Success and failure. *Strategic Change*, *12*(3), 115-122. doi:10.1002/jsc.624

- Bell, C., & Mjoli, T. (2014). The effects of participative leadership on organizational commitment: Comparing its effects on two gender groups among bank clerks.
 African Journal of Business Management, 8, 451-459.
 doi:10.5897/AJBM2013.7028
- Berbary, L. A. (2014). Too good at fitting in: Methodological consequences and ethical adjustments. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 27, 1205-1225. doi:10.1080/09518398.2013.820856
- Bernard, H. R. (2013). *Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Blackburn, R. A., Hart, M., & Wainwright, T. (2013). Small business performance:
 Business, strategy and owner-manager characteristics. *Journal of Small Business* and Enterprise Development, 20(1), 8-27. doi:10.1108/14626001311298394.
- Bhatti, M. N., Iftikhar, M., Qureshi, M. I., Shams, T., & Zaman, K. (2013). Critical elements in implementations of just-in-time management: Empirical study of cement industry in Pakistan. *Springerplus*, 2, 645-659.

doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-645

- Bishop, F., & Holmes, M. (2014). Mixed methods in CAM research: A systematic review of studies published in 2012. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 20, 2-12. doi:10.1089/acm.2014.5031
- Bongani, N. (2013). Application of internal controls in NGOs: Evidence from Zimbabwe. *Journal of Finance and Accounting*, *1*(2), 39-47. doi:10.12691/jfa-1-2-1

Borrego, M., Foster, M. J., & Froyd, J. E. (2014). Systematic literature reviews in engineering education and other developing interdisciplinary fields. *Journal for Engineering Education*, 103(1), 45-76. doi:10.1002/jee.20038

Bowale, K., & Ilesanmi, A. (2014). Determinants of factors influencing capacity of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in employment creation in Lagos State, Nigeria.
 International Journal of Financial Research, 5(2), 133-141.
 doi:10.5430/ijfr.v5n2p133

Brown, I., & Gould, J. (2013) Qualitative studies of obesity: A review of methodology. *Health*, 5(8), 69-80. doi:10.4236/health.2013.58A3010

Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper Collins.

- Buvik, M. P., & Rolfsen, M. (2015). Prior ties and trust development in project teams: A case study from the construction industry. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33, 1484-1494. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.06.002
- Campbell, J. L., Quincy, C., Osserman, J., & Pedersen, O. K. (2013). Coding in-depth semistructured interviews: Problems of unitization and intercoder reliability and agreement. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 42, 294-320. doi:10.1177/0049124113500475

Campbell, S., & Hartcher, J. (2010). Internal control for small business. *CPA Australia*, *1*, 5-32. Retrieved from http://cpaaustralia.com.au

Chibangu, S. K. (2013). A memo of qualitative research for information science: Toward theory construction. *Journal of Documentation*, 69(2), 194-213. doi:10.1108/00220411311300048

- Chaney, B. H., Barry, A. E., Chaney, J. D., Stellefson, M. L., & Webb, M. C. (2013).
 Using screen video capture software to aide and inform cognitive interviewing. *Quality & Quantity*, 47, 2529-2537. doi:10.1007/s11135-012-9669-4
- Chipangura, A., & Kaseke, N. (2012). Growth constraints of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) at Glenview furniture complex (GFC) in Harare (Zimbabwe). *International Journal of Marketing and Technology*, 2(6), 40-83. Retrieved from http://ijmra.us
- Clearry, M., Horsfall, J., & Harter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in a qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/Jan.12163
- Coetzee, B., Kagee, A., & Bland, R. (2016). Video observations of treatment administration to children on antiretroviral therapy in rural KwaZulu-Natal. *AIDS Care Psychological and Socio-medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV*, 28(2), 34-41. doi:10.1080/09540121.2016.1176674
- Collins, C. S., & Cooper, J. E. (2014). Emotional intelligence and the qualitative researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*, 88-103. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca
- Collins, K. M., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Johnson, R. B., & Frels, R. K. (2013). Practice note: Using debriefing interviews to promote authenticity and transparency in mixed research. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 7(2), 271-284. doi:10.5172/mra.2013.7.2.271

- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. (1992). Internal control. Integrated framework, evaluation tools, COSO, p. 23. Retrieved from http://coso.org.
- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). (2006). Internal control over financial reporting: Guidance for smaller public companies. Retrieved from http://coso.org
- COSO Internal Control Framework. (2013). *Protiviti risk & business consulting, internal audit*. Retrieved from http://protiviti.com
- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). (2013). Internal control-integrated framework. Retrieved from http://coso.org
- Cooper, C., Cathain, A., Hind, D., Adamson, J., Lawton, J., & Baird, W. (2014).
 Conducting qualitative research in clinical trials units: Avoiding potential pitfalls.
 Contemporary Clinical Trials, 38, 338-343. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2014.06.002
- Crawford, A. (2013). Hospitality operators' understanding of service: A qualitative approach. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 25(1), 65-81. doi:10.1108/09596111311290228
- Cronin-Gilmore, J. (2012). Exploring marketing strategies in small businesses. *Journal* of Marketing Development and Competitiveness, 6, 96-107. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- D'Aquila, J. M., & R. Houmes (2014). COSO's updated internal control and enterprise risk management frameworks: Applying the concepts to governments and not-forprofit organizations. *CPA Journal*, 2014, 54-59. Retrieved from http://www.cpajournal.com

- Dai, L., & Cai, Q. (2014). The research of Chinese college student cadres' leadership style based on the contingency theory. *Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies*, 2, 239-245. doi:10.4236/jhrss.2014.24025
- Damianakis, T., & Woodford, M. R. (2012). Qualitative research with small connected communities generating new knowledge while upholding research ethics.
 Qualitative Health Research, 22, 708-718. doi:10.1177/1049732311431444
- Dang, V.H. (2015). A mixed method approach enabling the triangulation technique: Case study in Vietnam. World Journal of Social Science, 2, 1-13 doi:10.5430/wjss.v2n2p1
- Doody, O. & Noonan M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(5), 28-32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 41, 1319-1320. doi:10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6
- Edwards, L., Salisbury, C., Horspool, K., Foster, A., Garner, K., & Montgomery, A. A. (2016). Increasing follow-up questionnaire response rates in a randomized controlled trial of telehealth for depression: Three embedded controlled studies. *Open Access*, *17*, 1-13. doi:10.1186/s13063-016-1234-3
- Efiong, E., Usang, O., Inyang, I., & Effiong, C. (2013). Corporate social responsibility in small and medium scale enterprises in Nigeria: An example from the hotel industry. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 119-126. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p119

- Ejimabo, N. O. (2015). The effective research process: Unlocking the advantages of ethnographic strategies in the qualitative research methods. *European Scientific Journal*, 11, 1857-7881. Retrieved from http://eujournal.org
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 1, 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- El-Zayaty, N. (2016). An exploration of leadership styles and motivation in Egyptian business organizations. (Doctoral Dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertation and Theses database. (UMI No. 10024532)
- Elshout, R., Scherp, E., & Van der Feltz-Cornelis, C. M. (2013). Understanding the link between leadership style, employee satisfaction, and absenteeism: A mixed methods design study in a mental health care institution. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 9, 823-837. doi:10.2147/NDT.S43755
- Egbunike, A. P. (2014). Transition to 21st century audit: An imperative for fraud detection in Nigeria. *Research in Applied Economics*, 6(1), 203-215. doi:10.5296/rae.v6i1.5188
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43, 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943
- Eniola, A., & Entebang, H. (2015). Government policy and performance of small and medium business management. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 5(2), 5-12. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS/v5-i2/1481

- Eravia, D., Handayani, T., & Julina, O. (2015). The opportunities and threats of small and medium enterprises in Pekanbaru: Comparison between SMES in food and restaurant industries. *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *169*, 88-97. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.289
- Etuk, R. U., Etuk, G. R., & Baghebo M. (2014). Small and medium scale enterprises (SMEs) and Nigeria's economic development. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 5, 656-622. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n7p656
- Fasola, O. S., Adeyemi, M. A., & Olowe, F. T. (2013). Exploring the relationship between transformational, transactional leadership style and organizational commitment among Nigerian bank employees. *International Journal of Academic Research in Economics and Management Sciences*, 2, 96-107. doi:10.6007/IJAREMS/v2-i6/445
- Feng, M., Li, C., McVay, S. E., & Skaife, H., S. (2015). Does ineffective internal control over financial reporting affect a firm's operations? Evidence from firms' inventory management. *The Accounting Review*, 90(2), 529-557. doi:10.2308/accr-50909
- Flannery, T., & Gormley, G. (2014). Evaluation of the contribution of theatre attendance to medical undergraduate neuroscience teaching: A pilot study. *British Journal of Neurosurgery*, 28, 680-684. doi:10.3109/02688697.2014.896873
- Fletcher, A. J., & Marchildon, G. P. (2014). Using the delphi method for qualitative, participatory action research in health leadership. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13, 1-18. doi:10.1177/160940691401300101
- Fourie, H., & Ackermann, C. (2013). The effect of COSO control environment attributes on the effectiveness of internal control: An internal auditor perspective. *Southern*

African Journal of Accountability and Auditing Research, 14, 31-44. Retrieved from http://reference.sabinet.co.za

- Frazer, L. (2012). The effect of internal control on the operating activities of small restaurants. *Journal of Business & Economics Research (Online)*, *10*, 361-374.
 Retrieved from cluteinstitute.com
- Frazer, L. (2011). The effect of internal control on the operating activities of small restaurants. (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertation and Theses database. (UMI No. 3454014)
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling and Development: JCD*, 91(2), 184-194. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu
- Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *13*, 117. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20(1), 18-29 doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Giltinane, C. L. (2013) Leadership styles and theories. *Nursing Standard*, 27, 35-39. doi:10.7748/ns2013.06.27.41.35.e7565

- Glowalla, P., & Sunyaev, A. (2014). ERP system fit An explorative task and data quality perspective. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 27, 668-686. doi:10.1108/JEIM-08-2013-0062
- Gopal, V., & Wei, Y. (2012). Do small firms benefit from auditor attestation of internal control effectiveness? *Auditing. A Journal of Practice & Theory*, *31*, 115-137. doi:10.2308/ajpt-50238.
- Gottschalk, P. (2014). Characteristics of financial crime investigation reports by fraud examiners. *Journal of Investment Compliance*, *15*, 57-66.doi:10.1108/JOIC-04-2014-0014
- Gözde, Y., Bengtson, A., & Hadjikhani, A. (2015). Internationalization of firms from new emerging markets in other new emerging markets: Opportunity development of a Turkish firm in Romania. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 19, 982-992. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.480
- Grbich, C. (2012). *Qualitative data analysis: An introduction*. Sage. South Australia. Retrieved from http://sagepub.com
- Greenhalgh, T., Snow, R., Ryan, S., Rees, S., & Salisbury, H. (2015). Six "biases" against patients and careers in evidence-based medicine. *BMC Medicine*, *13*, 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12916-015-0437-x
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20, 109-122. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Guetterman, T. C. (2015). Descriptions of sampling practices within five approaches to qualitative research in education and the health sciences. *Qualitative social research*, *16*(2), Art. 25. doi.org/10.17169/fqs-16.2.2290

- Gupta, P. D., Guha, S., & Krishnaswami, S. S. (2013). Firm growth and its determinants. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 2, 2-15.
 doi:10.1186/2192-5372-2-15
- Guta, L. A. (2013). Quantitative versus qualitative research in knowledge management. Social Science Research Network, 99, 311-326. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2218594
- Gyebi, F., & Quain, S. (2013). Internal control on cash collection. A case of the electricity company of Ghana Limited, Accra East Region. *International Journal* of Business and Social Science, 4, 217-233. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com
- Haislip, J.Z., Masli, A., Richardson, V. J., & Watson, M.W. (2015). External reputational penalties for CEOs and CFOs following information technology material weaknesses. *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, *17*, 1-15. doi:10.1016/j.accinf.2015.01.002
- Hammarström, A., Wiklund, A. F., Lindahl, B., Larsson, C., & Ahlgren, C. (2014).
 Experiences of barriers and facilitators to weight-loss in a diet intervention: A qualitative study of women in northern Sweden. *BMC Women's Health*, *14*(1), 14-59. doi:10.1186/1472-6874-14-59
- Harris, S., Gilbert, M., Beasant, L., Linney, C., Broughton., J., & Crawley, E. (2016). A qualitative investigation of eating difficulties in adolescents with chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgicencephalomyelitis. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 1-12. doi:10.1177/1359104516646813
- Hassanzadeh, M., Silong, A. D., Asmuni, A., & Wahat, N.W. (2015). Global leadership competencies. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 5(2), 137-146.

doi:10.5901/jesr.2015.v5n2p137

- Hayes, B., Bonner, A., & Douglas, C. (2013). An introduction to mixed methods research for nephrology nurses. *Renal Society of Australasia Journal*, 9(1), 8-14. Retrieved from http://renalsociety.org
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2016). Qualitative or mixed methods research inquiry approaches: Some loose guidelines for publishing in sex roles. *SpringerLink*, 74(1), 6-9. doi:10.1007/s11199-015-0568-8
- Hoe, J., & Hoare, Z. (2013). Understanding quantitative research: Part 1. *Nursing Standard*, 27, 48-55. doi:10.7748/ns2013.01.27.18.48.c9488
- Holátová, D. D., & Březinová, I.M. (2013). Basic characteristics of small and mediumsized enterprises in terms of their goals. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4, 98-103. Retrieved from: http://ijbssnet.com
- Holm, A. L., & Severinsson, E. (2013). Interdisciplinary team collaboration during discharge of depressed older persons: A Norwegian qualitative implementation study. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 2-9. doi:10.11552013/794743
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigor in qualitative case-study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hsiung, H., & Wang, J. (2014). Factors affecting internal control benefits under ERP system: An empirical study in Taiwan. *International Business Research*, 7, 31-43. doi:10.5539/ibr.v7n4p31
- Hutchins-Goodwin, R. (2013). Perceived influence of the affordable care Act on a school health program's preventive care. (Doctoral dissertation). Available from
 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3596382)

- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9, 1-12. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Ihugba, O., Odii, A., & Njoku, A. (2013). Challenges and prospects of entrepreneurship in Nigeria. Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies, 2, 25-36. doi:10.5901/ajis.2012.v2n5p25
- Ilkay, J. (2013). Identifying motives of mothers who purchase healthy convenience snacks for their children: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5, 237-246. Retrieved http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu
- Inyang, B. (2013). Defining the role engagement of small and medium-sized enterprises
 (SMEs) in corporate social responsibility (CSR). *International Business Research*,
 6, 123-132. doi:10.5539/ibr.v6n5p123
- Ismail, A., Reza, R., & Mahdi, S. (2012). Analysis of the relationship between cultural intelligence and transformational leadership (the case of managers at the trade office). *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 252-261. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Iqbal, N., Anwar, S., & Haider, N. (2015). Effect of leadership style on employee performance. Arabian Journal Business Management Review, 5, 146. doi:10.4172/2223-5833.1000146
- Isaac, L. (2014). Corporate governance and organizational performance in the Nigerian banking industry. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 2222-2839. doi:10.1.1.685.7153

- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method Interviewing and observation. *Journal* of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy, 5(4), 87-88. doi:10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- Janghorban, R., Roudsari, R. L., & Taghipour, A. (2014). Skype interviewing: The new generation of online synchronous interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.24152
- Järvinen, T., & Myllymäki, E-R. (2016). Real earnings management before and after reporting SOX 404 material weaknesses. *Accounting Horizons*, 30(1), 119-141. doi:10.2308/acch-51310.
- Javed, J. M., Khan, M. A., Huna, A. I., Rana Aziz, U. R., & Rauf, I. (2011). Determinants of business success of small and medium enterprises. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2, 274-280. Retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com
- Jiahui, M. (2015). Relationship between capital structure and firm performance evidence from growth enterprise market in China. *Management Science and Engineering*, 9(1), 45-49. doi:10.3968/6322
- Johnston, R., & Spencer, R. (2011). *The right internal controls prevent fraud and loss*. Financial Executive, 27, 60-63. Retrieved from https:/thefreelibrary.com
- Jong-Hag, C., Sunhwa, C., Chris E. H., & Joonil, L. (2013). The effect of human resource investment in internal control on the disclosure of internal control weaknesses. *Journal of Practice and Theory*, 32, 169-199. doi:10.2308/ajpt-50514
- Kachelmeier, S. J., Majors, T., & Williamson, M. G. (2014). Does intent modify riskbased auditing? *The Accounting Review*, *89*, 2181-2201. doi:10.2308/accr-50835

- Kapp, L. A., & Heslop, G. (2011). Protecting small businesses from fraud. *The CPA Journal*, 81(10), 62-67. Retrieved from http://www.cpajournal.com
- Kazimoto, P. (2014). Assessment of challenges facing small and medium enterprises towards international marketing standards: A case study of Arusha region Tanzania. *International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences*, 4(2), 303-311. doi:10.6007/IJARAFMS/v4-i2/893
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *9*, 224-233. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Kiage, J. O. (2013). Factors affecting procurement performance: A case of ministry of energy. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, 3(1), 54-70. Retrieved from http://ijbcnet.com
- Killawi, A., Khidir, A., Elnashar, M., Abdelrahim, H., Hammoud, M., Elliott, H., & Fetters, M. D. (2014). Procedures of recruiting, obtaining informed consent, and compensating research participants in Qatar: Findings from a qualitative investigation. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *15*(1), 1-13. doi:10.1186/1472-6939-15-9
- Kinney, W. R., Martin, R.D., & Shepardson, M. L. (2013). Reflections on a decade of SOX 404(b) audit production and alternatives. *American Accounting Association*, 27, 799-813. doi:10.2308/acch-10362
- Kirby, E. R., Broom, A. F., Adams, J., Sibbritt, D. W., & Refshauge, K. M. (2014). A qualitative study of influences on older women's practitioner choices for back pain care. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14, 2-10. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-131

- Koelsch, L. E. (2013). Reconceptualizing the member check interview. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *12*, 168-179. Retrieved from http://academia.edu
- Kumar, N., & Singh J. P. (2013). Global financial crisis: Corporate governance failures and lessons. *Journal of Finance, Accounting and Management*, 4(1), 21-34. http://gsmi-ijgb.com
- Kukreja, G. (2016). White collar fraud: A case study of KOSS. *Business and Management*, *3*(1), 22-37. doi:10.5296/csbm.v3i1.9116
- Lacono, V., L. Symonds, P., & Brown, D., H., K. (2016). Skype as a tool for qualitative research interviews. *Sociological Research Online*, 21(2), 12-25. doi:10.5153/sro.3952
- Lamb, D. (2013). Promoting the case for using a research journal to document and reflecton the research experience. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 11(2), 84-92. Retrieved from http://academic-conferences.org
- Laufer, D. (2011). Small business entrepreneurs: A focus on fraud risk and prevention.
 American Journal of Economics and Business Administration, *3*, 401-404.
 Retrieved from http://thescipub.com
- Latham, J. R. (2014). Leadership for quality and innovation: Challenges, theories, and a framework for future research. *The Quality Management Journal*, 21(1), 11-15. Retrieved from https://asq.org/
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

Leng, J., & Zhao, P. (2013). Study on the impact of the quality of internal control on the performance of M & A. *Journal of Service Science and Management*, 6, 223-233. doi:10.4236/jssm.2013.63025

Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 4(3), 324-327.
doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306

 Leung, K., Ang, S. & Tan, M. L, (2014). Intercultural competence. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 1, 489-519.
 doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091229

- Lucas, S. R. (2013). Beyond the existence proof: Ontological conditions, epistemological Implications and in-depth interview research. *Quality & Quantity*, 47, 1-22. doi:10.1007/s11135-012-9775-3.
- Lunde, A., Heggen, K., & Strand, R. (2013). Knowledge and power exploring unproductive interplay between quantitative and qualitative researchers. *Journal* of Mixed Methods Research, 7(2), 197-210. doi:10.1177/1558689812471087
- Luyolo, S., Yolande, S., Juan-Pierré, B, & Wilfred, I. U. (2014). The status of internal controls in fast moving small medium and micro consumer goods enterprises within the Cape Peninsula. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Science*, *5*, *163-175*. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n10p163
- Lynn, P., Muniz-Terrera, G., Hardy, R, O'Muircheartaigh, C., Skinner, C., & Lehtonen,
 R. (2015). Population sampling in longitudinal surveys. *Longitudinal and Life Course Studies*, 6, 447-475. doi:10.14301/llcs.v6i4.345

- Mabuza L., Govender I., Ogunbanjo G., & Mash, B. (2014). African primary care
 research: Qualitative data analysis and writing results. *African Journal of Primary Health Care Family Medical*, 6(1), 1-6. doi:10.4102/phcfm.v6i1.640
- Mafiana, E. (2013). Examining the relationship between internal control effectiveness and financial performance in the Nigerian banking industry. (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3553918)
- Mahdinezhad, M., Suandi, T. B., Silong, A. D. B., & Omar, Z. B. (2013).
 Transformational, transactional leadership styles and job performance of academic leaders. *International Education Studies*, *6*, 29-34. doi:10.5539/ies.v6n11p29
- Mangioni, V., & McKerchar, M. (2013). Strengthening the validity and reliability of the focus group as a method in tax research. *eJournal of Tax Research*, 11(2), 176-190. Retrieved from http://austlii.edu.au
- Martin, S. L., Liao, H., & Campbell, E. M. (2013). Directive versus empowering leadership: A field experiment comparing impacts on task proficiency and proactivity. *Academy of Management Journal*, *56*, 1372-1395. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.0113
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.) [Kindle version]. Retrieved from http://www.amazon.com
- Matheson, L., Asherson, P., Wong, I. C. K., Hodgkins, P., Setyawan, J., Sasane, R., & Clifford, S. (2013). Adult ADHD patient experiences of impairment, service

provision and clinical management in England: A qualitative study. *BMC Health* Services Research, 13, 2-13. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-184

- Matzler, K., Schwarz, E., Deutinger, N., & Harms, R. (2012). The relationship between transformational leadership, product innovation and performance in SMEs. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, 21(2), 139-151.
 doi:10.1080/08276331.2008.10593418
- McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational; transformational and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5, 17-130 Retrieved from http://jbsq.org
- Meek, J. (2013). Internal controls useless against collusion. *Operational Risk & Regulation*, 14, 4-11. Retrieved from http://risk.net
- Michael, A. (2015). Modern automobile vehicle repair practices in micro, small and medium scale garages in Ghana. *International Journal of Science, Technology,* and Society, 2, 216-222. doi:10.11648/j.ijsts.20140206.19
- Mikesell, L., Bromley, E., & Khodyakov, D. (2013). Ethical community-engaged research: A literature review. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103, e7-e14. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301605

Mishra, G. P., Grunewald, D., & Kulkarni, N. A. (2014). Leadership styles of senior and middle level managers: A study of selected firms in Muscat, Sultanate of Oman. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *9*, 72-79. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p72

- Missioura, O. (2014). Risk management-how important in internal control process? Risk management and other internal control components in the SME Sector:
 Qualitative analysis. *Journal of Business and Economics*, *5*, 838-850.
 doi:10.15341/jbe(2155-7950)/06.05.2014/009
- Moldof, A. (2014). The most important internal controls to include in a small company environment. *Internal Auditing*, *29*(1), 39-42. Retrieved from https://na.theiia.org
- Moore, K., & Bailey, J. (2013). Parental perspectives of a childhood obesity intervention in Mississippi: A phenomenological study. *The Qualitative Report*, 18, 1-22.
 Retrieved from. http://nova.edu
- Morrison, J., Clement, T., Nestel, D., & Brown, J. (2016). Under discussed, underused and underreported: Pilot work in team-based qualitative research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 16, 314-330. doi:10.1108/QRJ-07-2015-0053
- Morsea, W.C., Lowerya, D.R., & Steurya, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society & Natural Resources: An International Journal*, 27, 557-571. doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791
- Moss, J. M., Gibson, D. M., & Dollarhide, C. T. (2014). Professional identity development: A grounded theory of transformational tasks of counselors. *Journal* of Counseling and Development, 92, 3-12.

doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2014.00124

Muceku, H. (2014). The development of public internal financial control in Albania – and his role in strengthening the managerial accountability. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, *3*, 301-310. doi:10.5901/ajis.2014.v3n4p301

- Mukhina, A. S. (2015). International concept of an assessment of internal control efficiency in the conduct of an audit. *Asian Social Science*, *11*(8), 58-64. doi:10.5539/ass.v11n8p58
- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach.
 Medical Research Methodology, 14, 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Muposhi, A., & Dhurup, M. (2016). A Qualitative inquiry of generation Y consumers' selection attributes in the case of organic products. *International Business & Economics Research Journal*, 15(1), 1-14. doi:10.19030/iber.v15i1.9571
- Musoba, G. D., Jacob, S. A., & Robinson, L. J. (2014). The institutional review board (IRB) and faculty: Does the IRB challenge faculty professionalism in the social sciences? *Qualitative Report*, 19, 1-14. Retrieved from http://nova.edu
- Newington, L., & Metcalfe, A. (2014). Factors influencing recruitment to research: Qualitative study of the experiences and perceptions of research teams. *Medical Research Methodology*, *14*(1), 2-11. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-10
- Noland, T. G., & Metrejean, E. (2013). The importance of the control environment: Expense account fraud at Blue Grass Airport. *Journal of Business & Economics Research (Online)*, 11(2), 97-106. Retrieved from http://cluteinstitute.com
- Nor Azimah, A. (2013). Managing corporate risk and achieving internal control through statutory compliance. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 20(1), 25-38. doi:10.1108/13590791311287328
- Novak, A, (2014). Anonymity, confidentiality, privacy, and identity: the ties that bind and break in communication research. *Review of Communication*, *14*(1), 36-48.

doi:10.1080/15358593.2014.942351

- Nwankwo, F., Ewuim, N., & Asoya, N. (2012). Role of cooperatives in small and medium scale enterprises (SMEs) development in Nigeria: Challenges and the way forward. *An International Multidisciplinary Journal, Ethiopia*, *6*, 140-156. doi:10.4314/afrrev.v6i4.10.
- Nyman, S. R., Ballinger, C., Phillips, J. E., & Newton, R. (2013). Characteristics of outdoor falls among older people: A qualitative study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 13, 1-14. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-13-125
- O'Byrne, P. (2016). The advantages and disadvantages of mixing methods: An analysis of combining traditional and autoethnographic approaches. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17, 1381-1391. doi:10.1177/1049732307308304
- Oba, U., & Onuoha, B. (2013). The role of small and medium scale enterprises in poverty reduction in Nigeria: 2001-2011. An International Multidisciplinary Journal, Ethiopia, 7, 1-2. doi:10.4314/afrrev.7i4.1
- Odumeru, J. A., & Ogbonna, I. G. (2013). Transformational vs. transactional leadership theories: Evidence in literature. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, 2(2), 335-361.Retrieved from http://irmbrjournal.com
- Odunayo, T. O. (2015). Entrepreneurial orientation: A remedy for receding productivity of small and medium scale enterprise: A Nigeria perspective. *Available at SSRN* 2555436. Retrieved from http://ilshs.pl
- Ogundele, O., Akingbade A., Saka, O., Elegunde, F., & Aliu, A. (2013). Marketing practice of small and medium enterprises (SMEs): Perspective from a developing

country. Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences, 4(3), 243-258.

doi:10.5901/mjss.2013.v4n3p243

- Olander, H., Hurmelinna-Laukkanen, P., & Heilmann, P. (2015). Human resources strength and weakness in protection of intellectual capital. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, 16, 742 -762. doi:10.1108/JIC-03-2015-0027
- Ololube, N. P. (2013). The problems and approaches to educational planning in Nigeria: A theoretical observation. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *4*, 37-48. doi:10.5901/mjss.2013.v4n12p37
- Olowe, F. T., Moradeyo, O. A., & Babalola O. A. (2013). Empirical study of the impact of microfinance bank on small and medium growth in Nigeria. *International Journal of Academic Research in Economics and Management Sciences*, 2, 115-124. doi:10.6007/IJAREMS/v2-i6/465
- Onugu, B. (2005). Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Nigeria: Problems and prospects. *1*, 4-100. Retrieved from http://stclements.edu
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2016). A Call for conducting multivariate mixed analyses. *Journal* of Educational Issues, 2(2), 1-30. doi:10.5296/jei.v2i2.9316
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.
 International Journal of Education, 6, 183-246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399
- Oppong, S. H. (2013). The problem of sampling in qualitative research. *Asian Journal of Management Sciences and Education*, 2(2), 202-210. Retrieved from http://www.ajmse.leena-luna.co.jp

- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 13, 190-197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Othman, R., & Ali, N. (2014). NPO, internal controls, and supervision mechanisms in a developing country. VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 25(1), 201-224. doi:10.1007/s11266-012-9335-4
- Oyeniyi, B. (2013). Poverty alleviation and empowerment of small-scale industries in Nigeria: The case of Tie and Dye Makers Association. *African Journal of History and Culture*, *5*, 114-125. doi:10.5897/AJHC11.006
- Pang, Y., & Li, Q. (2013). Game analysis of internal control and risk management. International Journal of Business Management, 8, 102-110. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n17p103
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1-7.
 doi:10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Parry, K., Mumford, M. D., Bower, I., & Watts, L. L. (2014). Qualitative and historiometric methods in leadership research: A review of the first 25 years of 110. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25, 132-151. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.006
- Parveen, P., Gupta,T., Weirich, R., & Lynn, E. (2013). Sarbanes-Oxley and public reporting on internal control: Hasty reaction or delayed action? *Accounting Horizons*, 27(2), 371-408. doi:10.2308/acch-50425

- Pihie, Z., A., Asimiran, S., & Bagheri, A. (2014). Entrepreneurial leadership practices and school innovativeness. *South African Journal of Education*, 34(1), 1-11. doi:10.15700/201412120955
- Prowse, M., & Camfield, L. (2013). Improving the quality of development assistance:
 What role for qualitative methods in randomized experiments? *Progress in Development Studies*, 13(1), 51-61. doi:10.1177/146499341201300104
- Puni, A., Ofei, S. B., & Okoe, A. (2014). The effect of leadership styles on firm performance in Ghana. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 6(1), 177-185. doi:10.5539/ijms.v6n1p177
- Puttikunsakon, A., & Ussahawanitchakit, P. (2015). Best internal audit practices and achieving organizational success: An empirical examination of ISO 9000 manufacturing firm in Thailand. *The Business & Management Review*, 7(1), 105-125. Retrieved from http://www.abrmr.com
- Quan, L. (2015). Perceptions of leadership competencies and the acquisition of them by CEOs in Vietnamese small enterprises. *Asian Social Science*, 11, 17-25. doi:10.5539/ass.v11n4p17
- Ravazadeh, N., & Ravazadeh, A. (2013). The effect of transformational leadership on staff empowerment. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(10), 165-168. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com
- Reed, E., Khoshnood, K., Blankenship, K., & Fisher, C. (2014). Confidentiality, privacy, and respect: Experiences of female sex workers participating in HIV Research in Andhra Pradesh, India. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics: An International Journal*, 9(1), 19-28. doi:10.1525/jer.2014.9.1.19

- Robbins, P. (2012) Commentary: Internal controls project company assets. *The Idaho Business Review*, 9, 8750-4022. Retrieved from http://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41.
 doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rost, J. C. (1993). Leadership development in the new millennium. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 1(1), 191-110.

doi:10.1177/107179199300100109

- Rubino, M., Vitolla, F., & Garzoni, A. (2017). The impact of an IT governance framework on the internal control environment. *Records Management Journal*, 27(1), 19-41. doi:10.1108/RMJ-03-2016-0007
- Safari, A., & Thilenius, P. (2013). Alleviating uncertainty through trust: A narrative approach to consumers' foreign online purchasing behavior. *Journal of Customer Behavior*, 12(2), 211-226. doi:1362/147539213X13832198548418
- Schulz, W. C. (n.d.). Research designs considerations flowchart. Retrieved from http://waldenu.edu
- Scutt, C., & Hobson, J. (2013). The stories we need: Anthropology, philosophy, narrative and higher education research. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 32(1), 17-29. doi:10.1080/07294360.2012.751088
- Sethuraman, K., & Suresh, J. (2014). Effective leadership styles. *International Business Research*, 7, 165-172. doi:10.5539/ibr.v7n9p165
- Shanszadeh, B., & Zolfaghari, N. (2015). Impact of efficacious internal controls on audit process: Auditors' perspective. *Review of Contemporary Business Research*, 4(2),

97-107. doi:10.15640/rcbr.v4n2a8

- Shonubi, O. K., & Taiwo, S. O. (2013). Self-employed graduate entrepreneurs and management of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Lagos State, Nigeria. *The International Business & Economics Research Journal (Online)*, *12*, 585-594. doi:10.19030/iber.v12i5.7833
- Singh, A. S. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organisations. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 17, 77–84. doi:10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024
- Sirivanh, T., & Chaikeaw, A. (2013). Growth of small and medium enterprises in the Lao People's Democratic Republic: A structural equation modeling study. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(2), 214-219. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com
- Siwangaza, L., Smit, Y., Bruwer, J., & Ukpere, W. I. (2014). The status of internal controls in fast moving small medium and micro consumer goods enterprises within the Cape Peninsula. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Science*, 5(10), 163-175. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n10p163
- Snelgrove, S. R. (2014). Conducting qualitative longitudinal research using interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(1), 20-25. doi:10.7748/nr.22.1.20.e1277
- Soininen, J., Puumalainen, K., Sjögrén, H., & Syrjä, P. (2012). The impact of global economic crisis on SMEs: Does entrepreneurial orientation matter? *Management Research Review*, 35, 927-944. Retrieved from: http://doria.fi

Sokoto, A. A., & Abdulahi, Y. Z. (2013). Strengthening small and medium enterprises (SMEs) as a strategy for poverty reduction in North Western Nigeria. *American Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 1, 189-201 doi:10.11634/232907811301338

Starr, K. E. (2014). Interrogating conceptions of leadership: school principals, policy and paradox. *School Leadership & Management*, 34(3), 224-236. doi:10.1080/13632434.2014.905466

- Stone, R. (2016). Fraud, security, and controls in small businesses: A proposed research agenda. *Journal of Business*, *1*(3), 15-21. doi:10.18533/job.v1i6.44
- Suciu, G., & Bârsan, P. (2013). Evaluation of internal control. *Knowledge Horizons*. *Economics*, 5, 118-121. Retrieved http://orizonturi.ucdc.ro
- Suen, L. J. W., Huang, H. M., & Lee, H. H. (2014). A comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *Hu Li Za Zhi*, 61(3), 105. doi:10.6224/JN.61.3.105
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226-231. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Thierbach, C., & Lorenz, A. (2014). Exploring the orientation in space. Mixing focused ethnography and surveys in social experiment. *Historical Social Research*, 39(2), 137-166. doi:10.12759/hsr.39.2014.2.137-166
- Tong, A., Chapman, J., Israni, A., Gordon, E., & Craig, J. (2013). Qualitative research in organ transplantation: Recent contributions to clinical care and policy. *The*

American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons, 13, 1390-1399. doi:10.1111/ajt.12239

- Tong, Y., Wang, M., & Xu, F., (2014). Internal control, related party transactions and corporate value of enterprises directly controlled by Chinese central government. *Journal of Chinese Management*, 1(1), 1-14. doi:10.1186/s40527-014-000
- Tsang, E. W. K. (2014). Case studies and generalization in information systems research: A critical realist perspective. *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 23, 174-186. doi:10.1016/j.jsis.2013.09.002
- Turner, J. R., & Danks, S. (2014). Case study research: A valuable learning tool for performance improvement professionals. *Performance Improvement*, 53, 24-31. doi:10.1002/pfi.21406
- Tysiac, K. (2012). Small business big risk. *Journal of Accountancy*, *214*(2), 38-43. Retrieved from http://journalofaccountancy.com
- Tyssen, A. K., Wald, A., & Spieth, P. (2014). The challenge of transactional and transformational leadership in projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 32, 365-375. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.05.010
- Uluyol, O., & Akçi, Y. (2014). A research on perceptions of manufacturing firms about marketing and financial problems with the method qualitative analysis: Adiyaman case. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *5*, 224-233. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com/
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (1979). *The Belmont Report*. Retrieved from http://hhs.gov

Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15(3), 398-405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048

Vanclay, F., Baines, J. T & Taylor, C. N. (2013). Principles for ethical research involving humans: Ethical professional practice in impact assessment Part I. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, *31*(4), 243-253. doi:10.1080/14615517.2013.850307

- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research on information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37, 21-54. Retrieved from http://misq.org
- Vesa, M. & Vaara, E. (2014). Strategic ethnography 2.0: Four methods for advancing strategy process and practice research. *Strategic Organization*, *12*(4), 288-298. doi:10.1177/1476127014554745

Wallace, M., & Sheldon, N. (2015). Business research ethics: Participant observer perspectives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*, 267-277.
doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2102-2

Watson, S. L., Loizzo, J., Watson, W.R., Mueller, C., Lim, J., & Ertmer, P. A. (2016). Instructional design, facilitation, and perceived learning outcomes: An exploratory case study of a human trafficking MOOC for attitudinal change. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, *1*, 1-28. doi:10.1007/s11423-016-9457-2

Whitehouse, T. (2013). COSO framework to spark internal controls review. *Compliance Week*, *10*(114), 28-29. Retrieved from https://complianceweek.com

- Wiebelhaus, S., & Hanson, M., F. (2016). Effects of classroom-based physical activities on off-task behaviors and attention: kindergarten case study. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 1380-1393. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Wongyanon, S., Wijaya, A. F., Mardiyono, & Soeaidy, M. S. (2015). Analysis of the influence of leadership styles of chief executives to organizational performance of local organization in Thailand: A case study of transformational, transactional and laissez-faire styles of leadership in Pattaya City, Laemchabang City municipality and Chonburi provincial organization. *International Journal of Applied Sociology*, 5(2), 76-83. doi:10.5923/j.ijas.20150502.02
- Yang, K., & Banamah, A. (2014). Quota sampling as an alternative to probability sampling? An experimental study. *Sociological Research Online*, 19(1), 1-10. doi:10.5153/sro.3199
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48(2), 311-325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yun, H., Han, D., & Lee, C. C. (2013). Understanding the use of location-based service applications: Do privacy concerns matter? *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 14, 215-230. Retrieved from http://web.csulb.edu
- Zecheru, V. (2014). Internal audit managerial control relation. *Revista De Management Comparat International*, 15(1), 106-114. Retrieved from http://www.rmci.ase.ro

- Zhou, L., & Miguel, B. N. (2013). Doing qualitative research in Chinese contexts. *Library Hi Tech*, *31*, 419-434. doi:10.1108/LHT-11-2012-0104
- Zohrabi, M. (2013). Mixed method research: instruments, validity, reliability and reporting findings theory and practice in language studies, *3*(2), 254-262. doi:10.4304/tpls.3.2.254-262
- Zuñiga-Collazos, A., & Castillo-Palacio, M. (2016). Impact of image and satisfaction on marketing innovation. *Journal of Technology Management and Innovation*, 11(2), 70-75. doi:10.4067/S0718-27242016000200007

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Questions

Participants will respond to the following questions:

- 1. What strategies do you use to improve internal control in your enterprise?
- 2. How effective are the strategies?
- 3. What are the benefits of effective internal control systems to your SME?
- 4. How can inefficient internal control practices be detrimental to SMEs in Nigeria?
- 5. What are the main components of an effective internal control strategy?
- 6. What are the key success factors in the internal control setup in your enterprise?
- 7. What are you doing as an enterprise leader to improve the level of implementation of internal control measures?
- 8. How do you assess improvement in internal control practices in your enterprise?
- 9. What have you learned about improvement in internal control practices?
- 10. What other information can you provide on effective strategies for improving internal control?

Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation

.....

Lagos, Nigeria

Dear Femi Aladejebi,

Based on your research proposal, this communication is to indicate our approval for you to conduct the study titled *Strategies for Internal Control Improvement in Small and Medium Enterprises in Nigeria*

As part of this study, we authorize you to interview the Chief Executive Officer of this company or any senior officer that meet your inclusion criteria for participation in your study. The participation of all individuals will be voluntary and at their own discretion. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time for any reason. We confirm that we are authorized to approve the conduct of research within this setting.

Sincerely,

Authorizing Officer

Authorizing Officer